
COV EN T RY HE A LT H C A R E

A Winning Strategy

2006 Annual Report



A  W I N N I N G  S T R A T E G Y

With an organization driven to outperform the successes of yesterday, Coventry has an undeniable will to 

win. We are seizing strategic opportunities across all segments of our business and executing at the highest 

levels. As we relentlessly strive to exceed your expectations, Coventry will continue to find ways to win.

A B O U T  C O V E N T R Y

Coventry Health Care (“Coventry”) is a diversified national managed healthcare company based in Bethesda, Maryland, 

operating health plans, insurance companies, network rental and workers’ compensation services companies. Through 

its Commercial Business, Individual Consumer & Government Business, and Specialty Business Divisions, Coventry 

provides a full range of risk and fee-based managed care products and services to a broad cross section of individuals, 

employer and government-funded groups, government agencies, and other insurance carriers and administrators.
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December 31,

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Operations Statement Data(1)

 Operating revenues $ 7,733,756 $ 6,611,246 $ 5,311,969 $ 4,535,143 $ 3,576,905
 Operating earnings 841,003 791,818 496,671 366,197 200,670
 Earnings before income taxes 896,348 799,425 526,991 393,064 225,741
 Net earnings 560,045 501,639 337,117 250,145 145,603
 Basic earnings per share 3.53 3.18 2.55 1.89 1.09
 Diluted earnings per share 3.47 3.10 2.48 1.83 1.05

Balance Sheet Data(1)

 Cash and investments $ 2,793,800 $ 2,062,893 $ 1,727,737 $ 1,405,922 $ 1,119,120
 Total assets 5,665,107 4,895,172 2,340,600 1,981,736 1,643,440
 Total medical liabilities 1,121,151 752,774 660,475 597,190 558,599
 Long-term liabilities 309,616 309,742 25,854 27,358 21,691
 Debt 760,500 770,500 170,500 170,500 175,000
 Stockholders’ equity 2,953,002 2,554,703 1,212,426 928,998 646,037

Operating Data(1)

 Medical loss ratio 79.3% 79.4% 80.5% 81.2% 83.3%
 Operating earnings ratio 10.9% 12.0% 9.4% 8.1% 5.6%
 Administrative expense ratio 17.3% 17.9% 11.5% 12.0% 12.2%
  Basic weighted average shares outstanding 158,601 157,965 132,188 132,170 133,203
  Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 161,434 161,716 135,884 136,148 137,797
 Total membership(2) 4,077,000 3,677,000 2,509,000 2,383,000 2,035,000

(1)  Operations Statement Data include the results of operations of acquisitions since the date of acquisition. Balance Sheet Data reflect acquisitions as of December 31 of the 
year of acquisition. See the notes to consolidated financial statements for detail on our acquisitions.

(2)  Membership data reflects health plans, all self-funded customers, and Medicare Part D membership.
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2006 was another year of delivering results  you 

have come to expect from Coventry Health Care. 

We told you that we would be a profitable player 

in the Medicare Prescription Drug Program. We 

are. We said that we would continue to grow the 

business while maintaining our industry-leading 

margins. We did. We assured you that we would 

continue to operate our businesses with discipline, 

integrity, and superior execution. We always have 

and we always will.

A Winning Strategy

LET TER FROM THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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In addition to keeping our promises, 2006 was another year characterized by significant accomplishments 

both operationally and financially. We completed the integration of First Health Group with the expected 

synergies realized and operations functioning seamlessly. This represented the largest acquisition in 

Coventry’s history and I am very pleased with the way our team has been able to assimilate these assets.

The distribution arrangements that we implemented for our senior products were another significant 

operational achievement during 2006. These teaming initiatives between distribution partners, national 

retail chains, and our own Medicare-focused team were a key component of the results we delivered in the 

Medicare Prescription Drug Program (Medicare Part D).

From a financial perspective, 2006 represented another year of the reliable and consistent success you 

have come to expect from Coventry. Our revenues reached record levels of $7.7 billion while earnings contin-

ued to grow. We strengthened our balance sheet and served over 4 million members at year-end. Finally, we 

topped the $1.0 billion mark in cash flow from operations and fully intend to strategically deploy our free 

cash in the best interests of our shareholders.

With the First Health Group integration complete and our other initiatives on track, in 2006 I 

announced a business realignment organizing the company into three operating units:

•  Commercial Business Division

•  Individual Consumer & Government Business Division

•  Specialty Business Division

This new structure serves to organize our businesses, regardless of their origin, to most effectively 

capitalize on growth opportunities. We have already realized benefits from this strategic realignment and 

expect strengthened positioning for our future endeavors.

DALE B. WOLF

Chief Executive Officer
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Commercial Division: The Cornerstone

DISCIPLINE

RELIABILITY

PROFITABILITY

The Commercial Business Division, comprised of the Health Plan group risk and ASO, National 

Accounts, Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (FEHBP), and Network Rental businesses, has always 

represented the cornerstone of Coventry’s operations. This is the business that got us started and is one that 

continues to be a consistent and predictable performer today.

Building upon solid health plan roots, the Commercial Business Division has expanded dramatically 

to now offer national capabilities with a broad and diverse product portfolio. This division provides services 

to nearly 3 million customers in all 50 states offering both risk and non-risk products through our proprie-

tary national network. We also increased our local market presence by entering the Oklahoma and South 

Carolina markets in 2006 with plans for additional local market expansion in 2007. 

A key area of focus in this division is the small group business, which historically has been one of 

Coventry’s strengths. With employment growth among small groups occurring at rates as much as three 

times faster than the national average, this remains an attractive sector and a logical target for the Coventry 

sales teams. Leveraging our local market presence, low cost structure, and technology such as our 

BenefitExpress broker quoting tool designed specifically with the small group demographic in mind, this 

segment of the Commercial Division again grew impressively during 2006. We believe that local markets and 

local employers are best served by Coventry’s tried and true model of maintaining a strong local health plan 

presence. The Commercial Division also offers solutions to large employers on a full risk and self-funded 

basis. Across the board, in all group sizes, we deliver a strong value proposition.

As you may recall, Coventry has always prided itself on a “low cost wins” mantra. That hasn’t changed 

and is nowhere more evident than in this division. By continuing to relentlessly focus on the smallest details, 

we achieve industry-best SG&A levels. By maintaining steadfast discipline in pricing our products, we deliver 

consistently low medical cost ratios. Our local health plan presence allows us to create a highly competitive 

medical cost structure both in terms of unit costs and through the results of medical management efforts. 

Today, as always, Coventry’s low cost focus allows us to deliver industry-leading margins while still effectively 

competing for commercial business.
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Commercial Division: The Cornerstone

W I N N I N G  T H R O U G H  C O N S I S T E N C Y

The Commercial Business Division completed another solid year in 2006, generating strong top-line growth 
while maintaining the discipline to deliver impressive earnings. By developing new products and focusing  

on the most attractive market segments, this division will continue to produce the reliable and  
consistent results that you have come to expect.

— TOM MCDONOUGH,  President
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Individual Consumer & Government 
Division: Growth, Growth, Growth

2006 MEDICARE 

PART D MEMBERS

687,000

The Individual Consumer & Government Business Division is comprised of Individual commercial products 

and all Medicare and Medicaid products, with all three areas representing exceptional growth opportunities for 

Coventry. We made great strides in 2006 with the introduction of the Medicare Part D product and early indications 

point towards continued success in 2007 with our entrance into the Medicare Private-Fee-For-Service (PFFS) market. 

Our Medicaid business is well positioned and our more recently introduced Individual product has seen early success.

With the implementation of the Medicare Part D program in 2006, the managed care industry was 

presented with an unprecedented opportunity. We approached the opportunity methodically and prudently by 

leveraging Coventry’s collective company assets including our competitive pharmacy cost structure, underwriting 

capabilities, and experience providing pharmacy management services in State programs. Furthermore, we 

employed an approach that minimized spending your money on upfront investments, ultimately rewarding share-

holders with the creation of the 6th largest national presence with 687,000 members at year-end and total revenue 

exceeding $650 million. More importantly, we targeted a 5% operating margin on this new business and ended 

the year right on track.

As we looked towards 2007, we made the decision to expand our Medicare Advantage footprint both 

geographically and to new products. Coventry introduced a Medicare PFFS product, Advantra Freedom, in 75% of 

the counties in the United States. Leveraging our Part D experiences, we employed a similar approach in the 

underwriting of the PFFS product and in the development of robust independent distribution partnerships cou-

pled with our internal group retiree sales force. We are pleased with our product positioning and the early success 

of our distribution approaches. Through the month of January alone, enrollment had already exceeded our initial 

expectations for the entire year. We expect this seized opportunity to produce more than $900 million of “new” rev-

enue to Coventry this year and we will keep you updated on the progress of this new product line throughout 2007.

But this isn’t just a Medicare division—our Medicaid operations will produce over $1 billion of revenue in 2007. 

We continue to focus on growing this business both organically through leveraging our government relationships 

and through acquisitions.

We also expanded our footprint in the Individual business, the fastest growing segment of today’s health 

insurance industry, by adding this product capability to nearly all of our health plan markets. By the end of 2006, we 

were able to enroll 23,000 members. Our expectation to double the Individual business in 2007 is a perfect exam-

ple of the multiple ways that Coventry can seize growth opportunities that “move the needle.”

6 //  COVENTRY HEALTH CARE



AGGRESSIVELY PURSUING NEW OPPORTUNITIES, WE HAVE BEEN 

ABLE TO GENERATE IMPRESSIVE MEMBERSHIP GRO W T H  AND 

WILL CONTINUE TO DO SO WITH AN EYE TO THE FUTURE.

W I N N I N G  T H R O U G H  G R O W T H

2006 marked a transformative year for the Individual Consumer & Government Business Division. Our entry 
into Medicare Part D was a success by any measure while the products we developed for the Medicare PFFS 
market have proven to be exceptionally well-received. This unprecedented expansion increases the breadth 
of our relationships and continues to improve our strategic positioning in the marketplace. We are already 

preparing for new opportunities in 2008 and 2009. — FR A N SOIS TM A N,  Executive Vice President

INDIVIDUAL CONSUMER & GOVERNMENT
DIVISION MEMBERSHIP
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MARKET LEADER IN 

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

MANAGED CARE SERVICES

The Specialty Business Division today consists of our workers’ compensation services business, 

combining assets acquired in the First Health transaction with the recently completed acquisition of the 

Concentra workers’ compensation managed care services businesses. Over time, our intention with this divi-

sion is to expand into other logical businesses related to the broad universe of financing and administering 

health care.

Coventry’s workers’ compensation services business is a market leader in providing managed care 

services to workers’ compensation customers and is expected to prospectively generate well over $500 mil-

lion in annualized fee-based revenue. We are not an underwriter or risk assumer of workers’ compensation 

insurance. Instead, we provide managed care services to workers’ compensation carriers, third party admin-

istrators and self-insured programs. Given the combination of the previous First Health products and those 

acquired from Concentra, we now offer a compelling value proposition to customers with expanded man-

aged care capabilities including:

• National Workers’ Compensation Network

• Bill review

• Pharmacy benefits management

• Telephonic case management

• Field case management

• Medicare set-aside

• Independent medical exams

As the portion of workers’ compensation claims attributable to medical costs continues to rise, our 

customers look to Coventry for cost-containment and managed care solutions. We will continue to combine 

the workers’ compensation experience of the historical First Health and Concentra business with Coventry’s 

managed care focus to provide a unique value proposition to our current and future customers.

Specialty Division: An Avenue for Expansion
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W I N N I N G  T H R O U G H  E X P A N S I O N

The workers’ compensation services industry presents a unique market opportunity to deliver value through 
Coventry’s integrated product offering. We look forward to providing a full spectrum of workers’ compensa-

tion managed care services to our customers while firmly establishing ourselves as the clear-cut market leader 
in this attractive fee-based segment of the industry.

— JI M MCGA R RY,  President of Workers’ Compensation Services 

AS THE ME DIC A L COMP ONE N T  OF WORKERS’ COM-

PENSATION COSTS CONTINUES TO REPRESENT A LARGER SHARE 

OF TOTAL COSTS TO PAYERS, COVENTRY WILL BE A LOGICAL 

CHOICE TO DELIVER EFFECTIVE MANAGED CARE SOLUTIONS.

Specialty Division: An Avenue for Expansion
1983 1993 2005
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Operational & Financial Excellence

INDUSTRY-LEADING 2006 

OPER ATING MARGIN

10.9%

All of these successes are made possible by the operational strength and solid financial discipline 

which have long been a hallmark of the Coventry story. We always maintain a focus on the member with 

our customer service operations performing exceptionally well in 2006 as claims inventories were down, 

technology metrics all trended impressively and cost structures remained at industry-leading levels. Our 

Medicare Part D implementation produced excellent customer satisfaction results and we have already seen 

more of the same as we begin to provide service to our new Medicare PFFS members.

Similar accomplishments were seen in Coventry’s continued financial growth, with five-year trends of:

•  21% average annual revenue growth;

• 19% average annual growth in members served;

• 35% average annual increase in EPS.

While these statistics are impressive, they are made even more meaningful by the fact that we are 

growing the business with financial discipline. Medical expenses represent the single largest “cost of goods 

sold” component for our company and for our industry, yet these expenses have been controlled in all of 

Coventry’s lines of business with remarkable consistency. Our methodical approach to medical management 

is seen through the “every patient, every day” philosophy we apply in each of our divisions. With similar 

emphasis placed on managing SG&A costs, we have been able to consistently deliver the solid top-line and 

bottom-line results that you’ve come to expect.
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7.3%
OUR DISCIPLINE AND ABILITY TO EXECUTE HAVE ALLOWED US TO 

MAINTAIN A CONSIS T E N T,  C ON T ROL L E D REALIZED 

MEDICAL COST TREND OF 7.3% OVER A FIVE-YEAR PERIOD.

COMMERCIAL MEDICAL COST PMPM*
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W I N N I N G  T H R O U G H  D I S C I P L I N E

Operationally, we integrated the largest acquisition in our history and surpassed expectations for the most 
significant organic growth initiative in our history, Medicare Part D. Financially, we produced record earnings 
levels, grew revenues significantly, and generated outstanding cash flow all while maintaining the best operating 

margins in the industry. By nearly any measure, 2006 was an exceptional year for Coventry Health Care. 
— SH AWN GU ER T I N,  Chief Financial Officer 

*Data represents Health Plan commercial results for all group sizes.
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C OV E N T R Y HE A LT H C A R E ,  INC .

Commercial

Division

Specialty

Division

Individual

Consumer

&

Government 

Division

A Vision for the Future
I could not be more pleased with how Coventry is currently positioned. Our capital structure is solid 

with over $400 million in free cash at year-end to deploy through a balance of strategic acquisitions 

and share repurchases. Our core businesses continue to perform very well. Our diverse revenue streams 

remain a critical component of being adequately prepared for whatever the future of the managed care 

industry holds. We always operate with a vision for the future and have multiple growth levers available 

across our divisions.

In the Commercial Business Division, we are focused on doing the thousand little things that are 

critical to keep this business producing as it always has. This division generates the majority of the revenue 

and earnings for the company yet still offers multiple opportunities to create incremental growth. We will 

continue to capitalize on the small group risk market, the most profitable and fastest growing market 

segment where we have historically done quite well. We also have opportunities to leverage the national 

network by expanding into new geographies as we did in 2006 and as we have committed to do in 2007.

Our Individual Consumer & Government Business Division is fueling revenue and earnings 

growth for our company and continues to present attractive growth prospects for the future. Medicare 

Private-Fee-For-Service, our largest single initiative for 2007, is off to a fantastic start with more than 70,000 

members enrolled as of January 1st. We are expecting organic membership growth of 5%–10% in our 
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DALE B. WOLF

Chief Executive Officer

Medicare Advantage HMO business with entrance into 21 new counties. Medicaid membership is also 

projected to increase organically as well as through the recent acquisition of approximately 30,000 members 

in the western Missouri region effective February 2007. The Individual market continues to be a success story 

for us as we have grown this business impressively with sales in our health plan markets. Every business in 

this division is not only growing in scale but also growing profitably.

The Specialty Business Division, today the smallest of the three, will grow significantly in 2007 with 

the successful completion of the Concentra workers’ compensation services businesses acquisition. By 

gaining the wide range of capabilities that the Concentra acquisition will provide, we have greatly improved 

the breadth of our offering to workers’ compensation customers. This transaction will serve to strengthen 

our strategic positioning as Coventry was already considered one of the market leaders in the provision of 

workers’ compensation managed care services. Beyond this business, we will continue to look for opportunities 

to further expand this division both in terms of management and new business prospects.

Given all of these growth opportunities, the future successes of Coventry will be determined by our 

ability to execute at the highest levels, just as we always have. The same principles that we’ve lived by in the 

past, combining relentless focus with a “low cost wins” mentality and daily operational excellence, will con-

tinue to be the key ingredients to our winning strategy. We will strive to surpass the expectations of all of our 

constituents which will result in delivering optimal results to you, our shareholders. Finally, I would like to 

thank every one of our more than 10,000 dedicated employees for making 2006 such a resounding success 

and taking us one more step towards our full potential.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. 

Executive-Level Overview 

General Operations 
We are a national managed health care company based in Bethesda, Maryland operating health plans, insurance companies, network rental/ 
managed care services companies, and workers’ compensation services companies. We provide a full range of risk and fee-based managed care 
products and services, including health maintenance organization (“HMO”), preferred provider organization (“PPO”), point of service (“POS”), 
Medicare Advantage, Medicare Prescription Drug Plans, Medicaid, Workers’ Compensation and Network Rental to a broad cross section of indi-
viduals, employer and government-funded groups, government agencies, and other insurance carriers and administrators in all 50 states as well as 
the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. 

Summary of 2006 Performance 
•  Health Plan membership decreased .9% over the prior year, excluding the new Medicare Part D business. 
•  Medicare Part D revenues of $669.9 million and membership of 687,000.
•  Revenue increased 17% over the prior year. 
•  Health Plan medical loss ratio of 78.9% improved 60 basis points over the prior year. 
•  Selling, general and administrative expenses were 17.3% of operating revenues, a decrease of 60 basis points from the prior year.
•  Operating margin of 10.9% declined 110 basis points over the prior year. 
•  Diluted earnings per share increased 11.9% over the prior year. 
•  Cash flows from operations were $1,066 million (including $348.6 million related to the new Medicare Part D business), a 32.6% increase over 

the prior year. 
•  Total cash and investments was $2.8 billion, a 35.4% increase over the prior year. 

Operating Revenue and Products 
We generate our operating revenues from premiums and fees from a broad range of managed care and management service products. Premiums for our 
risk products, for which we assume full underwriting risk, can vary. For example, premiums for our commercial PPO and commercial POS products are 
typically lower than our commercial HMO premiums due to medical underwriting and higher deductibles and co-payments that are typically required of 
the commercial PPO and commercial POS members. Premium rates for our government programs, Medicare and state-sponsored managed Medicaid, are 
largely established by governmental regulatory agencies in conjunction with competitive bidding processes. Medicare products, including Part D, have 
risk adjusted premium rates at the member level to help align expected cost and reimbursement. These government products are offered in selected 
markets where we believe we can achieve profitable growth based upon favorable reimbursement levels, provider costs and regulatory climates. 

Revenue for our management services products (“non-risk”) is generally a fixed administrative fee, provided on a predetermined contractual basis 
or on a percentage-of-savings basis, for access to our health care provider networks and health care management services, for which we do not 
assume underwriting risk. The management services we provide typically include health care provider network management, clinical management, 
pharmacy benefit management (“PBM”), bill review, claims repricing, fiscal agent services (generally for state entitlement programs), claims pro-
cessing, utilization review and quality assurance. 

Operating Expenses 
Our medical costs include medical claims paid under contractual relationships with a wide variety of providers and capitation arrangements. 
Medical costs also include an estimate of claims incurred but not reported. 

We maintain provider networks that furnish health care services through contractual arrangements with physicians, hospitals and other health care 
providers. Prescription drug benefits are provided through a formulary comprised of an extensive list of drugs. Drug prices are negotiated at discounted 
rates through a national network of pharmacies. 
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We have capitation arrangements for certain ancillary heath care services, such as mental health care, and a small percentage of our membership 
is covered by global capitation arrangements. Under the typical arrangement, the provider receives a fixed percentage of premium to cover costs of 
all medical care or of the specified ancillary services provided to the globally capitated members. Under some capitated arrangements, physicians 
may also receive additional compensation from risk sharing and other incentive arrangements. Global capitation arrangements limit our exposure to 
the risk of increasing medical costs, but expose us to risk as to the adequacy of the financial and medical care resources of the provider organization. 
We are ultimately responsible for the coverage of our members pursuant to the customer agreements. To the extent that the respective provider 
organization faces financial difficulties or otherwise is unable to perform its obligations under the capitation arrangements, we will be required to 
perform such obligations. Consequently, we may have to incur costs in doing so in excess of the amounts we would otherwise have to pay under the 
original global or ancillary capitation through our contracted network arrangements. 

We have established systems that monitor the availability, appropriateness and effectiveness of the patient care we provide. We collect utilization 
data in each of our markets that we use to analyze over-utilization or under-utilization of services and assist our health plans in arranging for appropriate 
care for their members and improving patient outcomes in a cost efficient manner. Medical directors also monitor the utilization of diagnostic services 
and encourage the use of outpatient surgery and testing where appropriate. Each health plan collects data showing each physician’s utilization profile 
for diagnostic tests, specialty referrals and hospitalization and presents such data to the health plan’s physicians. The medical directors monitor these 
results in an effort to ensure the use of medically, cost-effective appropriate services. 

We operate regional service centers that perform claims processing, premium billing and collection, enrollment and customer service functions for 
our health plans. Our regional service centers enable us to take advantage of economies of scale, implement standardized management practices at 
each of our plans and capitalize on the benefits of our integrated information technology systems. We centralize the underwriting and product pricing 
functions for our health plans, which allows us to utilize our underwriting expertise and a disciplined pricing strategy at each of our health plans. First 
Health operating expenses consist primarily of salaries and related costs for personnel involved in the administrative services offered by the Company. 
To a lesser extent, the operating expenses include facility expenses and information processing costs needed to provide those administrative services.

Cash Flows 
We generate cash through operations. As a profitable company in an industry that is not capital equipment intensive, we have not needed to use 
financing methods to fund operations. While we did incur debt (as described in Note I to our consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K), 
the entire proceeds were used to finance an acquisition and were not used to fund operations. Our primary use of cash is to pay medical claims. Any 
excess cash has historically been used for acquisitions, to prepay indebtedness and for repurchases of our common stock. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

We consider the accounting policies described below critical in preparing our consolidated financial statements. Critical accounting policies are ones 
that require difficult, subjective, or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently 
uncertain. The judgments and uncertainties affecting the application of these policies include significant estimates and assumptions made by us using 
information available at the time the estimates are made. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. 

Revenue Recognition 
Managed care premiums are recorded as revenue in the month in which members are entitled to service. Premiums are based on both a per-subscriber 
contract rate and the number of subscribers in our records at the time of billing. Premium billings are generally sent to employers in the month 
preceding the month of coverage. Premium billings may be subsequently adjusted to reflect changes in membership as a result of retroactive termina-
tions, additions, or other changes. Due to early timing of the premium billing, we are able to identify in the current month the retroactive adjustments 
for two subsequent months billings. Current period revenues are adjusted to reflect these retroactive adjustments. 

Based on information received subsequent to generating premium billings, historical trends, bad debt write-offs and the collectibility of specific accounts, 
we estimate, on a monthly basis, the amount of bad debt and future membership retroactivity and adjust our revenue and allowances accordingly. 

As of December 31, 2006, we maintained allowances for retroactive billing adjustments of approximately $20.1 million compared with approxi-
mately $20.6 million at December 31, 2005. We also maintained allowances for doubtful accounts of approximately $1.9 million and $3.6 million as 
of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The calculation for these allowances is based on a percentage of the gross accounts receivable with 
the allowance percentage increasing for the older receivables.
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We also receive premium payments from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) on a monthly basis for our Medicare membership. 
Membership and category eligibility are periodically reconciled with CMS and can result in adjustments to revenue. Premiums collected in advance 
are recorded as deferred revenue. 

We contract with the United States Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”) and with various federal employee organizations to provide health 
insurance benefits under the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program. These contracts are subject to government regulatory oversight by the 
Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) of OPM who perform periodic audits of these benefit program activities to ensure that contractors meet their 
contractual obligations with OPM. For our managed care contracts, the OIG conducts periodic audits to, among other things, verify that premiums 
established under its contracts are in compliance with community rating requirements under the FEHB Program. The OPM may seek premium 
refunds or institute other sanctions against health plans that participate in the program. For our experience-rated plans, the OIG focuses on the 
appropriateness of contract charges, the effectiveness of claims processing, financial and cost accounting systems, and the adequacy of internal 
controls to ensure proper contract charges and benefits payments. The OIG may seek refunds of costs charged under these contracts or institute 
other sanctions against health plans. These audits are generally a number of years in arrears. We record reserves, on an estimated basis annually, 
for audit and other contract adjustments based on appropriate guidelines. Any differences between actual results and estimates are recorded in the 
year the audits are finalized.

We enter into performance guarantees with employer groups where we pledge that we will meet certain standards. These standards vary widely 
and could involve customer service, member satisfaction, claims processing, claims accuracy, telephone on-hold time, etc. We also enter into 
financial guarantees which can take various forms including, among others, achieving an annual aggregate savings threshold, achieving a targeted 
level of savings per-member per-month or achieving overall network penetration in defined demographic markets. For each guarantee, we estimate 
and record performance based revenue after considering the relevant contractual terms and the data available for the performance based revenue 
calculation. Pro rata performance based revenue is recognized on an interim basis pursuant to the rights and obligations of each party upon 
termination of the contracts. 

Medical Claims Expense and Liabilities 
Medical liabilities consist of actual claims reported but not paid and estimates of health care services incurred but not reported. Medical liabilities 
estimates are developed using actuarial principles and assumptions that consider, among other things, historical claims payment patterns, provider 
reimbursement changes, historical utilization trends, current levels of authorized inpatient days, other medical cost inflation factors, membership 
levels, benefit design changes, seasonality, demographic mix change and other relevant factors. 

We employ a team of actuaries that have used a set of reserve models that are based on a consistent methodology. Although the calculation is 
consistent, we adjust our estimates of medical utilization and components of medical cost trends to amounts we estimate to be appropriate. The 
medical liabilities are an accumulation of the results from many individual models, each calculated at the statutory level and representing different 
markets and/or products. These reserve models do not calculate separate amounts for reported but not paid and incurred but not reported, but rather 
a single estimate of medical claims liabilities. These reserve models make use of both historical claim payment patterns as well as emerging medical 
cost trends to project our best estimate of claim liabilities. Within these models, historical data of paid claims is formatted into claim triangles which 
compare claim incurred dates to the claim payment dates. This information is analyzed to create “completion factors” that represent the average 
percentage of total incurred claims that have been paid through a given date after being incurred. Completion factors are applied to claims paid 
through the financial statement date to estimate the ultimate claim expense incurred for the current period. Actuarial estimates of claim liabilities 
are then determined by subtracting the actual paid claims from the estimate of the ultimate incurred claims. 

Actuarial standards of practice generally require the actuarial developed medical claims estimates to cover obligations under an assumption of 
moderately adverse conditions. Adverse conditions are situations in which the actual claims are expected to be higher than the otherwise estimated 
value of such claims. In many situations, the claims paid amount experienced will be less than the estimate that satisfies the actuarial standards of 
practice. Medical claims liabilities are recorded at an amount we estimate to be appropriate. Adjustments of prior years estimates may result in 
additional medical costs or, as we have experienced during the last several years, a reduction in medical costs in the period an adjustment was 
made. Our reserve models have historically developed favorably suggesting that the accrued liabilities calculated from the models were more than 
adequate to cover our ultimate liability for unpaid claims. We believe that this favorable development is a result of good communications between 
our health plans and our actuarial staff regarding medical utilization, mix of provider rates and other components of medical cost trend. 
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The following table presents the components of the change in medical claims liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, 
respectively (in thousands). 

  2006 2005 2004 

Medical liabilities, beginning of period $ 752,774 $ 660,475 $ 597,190 

Acquisitions(1) — 41,895 — 

Reported Medical Costs
 Current year 5,570,872 4,672,009 4,257,942 
 Prior year developments  (130,908) (121,138) (72,047)

Total reported medical costs 5,439,964 4,550,871 4,185,895 

Claim Payments
 Payments for current year 4,852,359 4,030,685 3,691,092 
 Payments for prior year  542,571  469,782  431,518  

Total claim payments 5,394,930 4,500,467 4,122,610 
Part D Related Subsidy Liabilities  323,343  —  —  

Medical liabilities, end of period  $ 1,121,151  $ 752,774  $ 660,475  

Supplemental Information:
 Prior year development(2) 2.9% 2.9% 2.0%
 Current year paid percent(3) 87.1% 86.3% 86.7%

(1)Acquisition balances represent medical liabilities of the acquired company as of the applicable acquisition date.
(2)Prior year reported medical costs in the current year as a percentage of prior year reported medical costs.
(3)Current year claim payments as a percentage of current year reported medical costs.

The negative amounts noted as “prior year” medical costs are favorable adjustments for claim estimates being settled for amounts less than originally 
anticipated. As noted above, these favorable restatements from original estimates occur due to changes in medical utilization, mix of provider rates 
and other components of medical cost trends. Medical claim liabilities are generally paid within several months of the member receiving service 
from the provider. Accordingly, the 2006 prior year medical costs relate almost entirely to claims incurred in calendar year 2005 and the increase in 
prior year medical cost was driven primarily by lower than anticipated medical cost increases, growth in the medical cost base and uncertainties at 
the prior year-end regarding our Louisiana operations and the effects of Hurricane Katrina. 

The Medicare Part D related subsidy liabilities identified in the table above represent subsidy amounts received from CMS for reinsurance and for 
cost sharing related to low income individuals. These subsidies are recorded in medical liabilities and we do not recognize premium revenue or claims 
expense for these subsidies. Following the final settlement in 2007 related to the 2006 plan year, any remaining balances from these subsidy payments 
will be refunded to CMS.

For the more recent incurred months, the percentage of claims paid to claims incurred in those months is generally low. As a result, the completion 
factor methodology is less reliable for such months. For that reason, incurred claims for recent months are not projected solely from historical 
completion and payment patterns. Instead, they are projected by estimating the claims expense for those months based upon recent claims expense 
levels and health care trend levels, or “trend factors.” As these months mature over time, the two estimates (completion factor and trend) are 
blended with completion factors being used exclusively for older months.

Within the reserve setting methodologies for inpatient and non-inpatient services, we use certain assumptions. For inpatient services, authorized 
days are used for utilization factors, while cost trend assumptions are incorporated into per diem amounts. The per diem estimates reflect anticipated 
effects of changes in reimbursement structure and severity mix. For non-inpatient services, a composite trend assumption is applied which reflects 
anticipated changes in cost per service, provider contracts, utilization, and other factors. 
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Changes in the completion factors, trend factors and utilization factors can have a significant effect on the claim liability. The following example 
provides the estimated effect to our December 31, 2006 unpaid claims liability assuming hypothetical changes in the completion, trend, and inpa-
tient day factors. While we believe the selection of factors and ranges provided are reasonable, certain factors and actual results may differ.

Completion Factor  Claims Trend Factor  Inpatient Day Factor

Increase 
(Decrease)  

in Completion 
Factor  

(Decrease) 
Increase  

in Unpaid 
Claims 

Liabilities  

(Decrease) 
Increase  

in Claims 
Trend Factor  

(Decrease) 
Increase  

in Unpaid 
Claims 

Liabilities  

(Decrease) 
Increase  

in Inpatient 
Day Factor  

(Decrease) 
Increase  

in Unpaid 
Claims 

Liabilities

3.3% $ (21,471) (5.0%) $ (57,723) (5.0%) $ (13,127)
2.0% $ (13,196) (2.5%) $ (28,861) (2.5%) $ (6,564)
1.0% $ (6,671) (1.0%) $ (11,545) (1.0%) $ (2,625)
(1.0%) $ 6,820 1.0% $ 11,545 1.0% $ 2,625
(2.0%) $ 13,796 2.5% $ 28,861 2.5% $ 6,564
(3.3%) $ 23,104 5.0% $ 57,723 5.0% $ 13,127

We also establish reserves, if required, for the probability that anticipated future health care costs and contract maintenance costs under the group 
of existing contracts will exceed anticipated future premiums and reinsurance recoveries on those contracts. 

Accruals are continually monitored and reviewed, and as settlements are made or accruals adjusted, differences are reflected in current operations. 
Changes in assumptions for medical costs caused by changes in actual experience could cause these estimates to change in the near term. Certain 
situations require judgment in setting reserves, such as system conversions, processing interruptions, environmental changes or other factors. 

We believe that the amount of medical liabilities is adequate to cover our ultimate liability for unpaid claims as of December 31, 2006; however, 
actual claim payments and other items may differ from established estimates. 

Investments 
We account for investments in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115—“Accounting for Certain Investments 
in Debt and Equity Securities.” We invest primarily in fixed income securities and classify all of our investments as available-for-sale. Investments are 
evaluated on an individual security basis at least quarterly to determine if declines in value are other-than-temporary. In making that determination, 
we consider all available evidence relating to the realizable value of a security. This evidence includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

•  adverse financial conditions of a specific issuer, segment, industry, region or other variables; 
•  the length of the time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost; 
•  the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; 
•   our intent and ability to retain our investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value; 
•  elimination or reduction in dividend payments, or scheduled interest and principal; 
•  rating agency downgrade of a debt security; and 
•  expected cash flows of a debt security. 

Temporary declines in value of investments classified as available-for-sale are netted with unrealized gains and reported as a net amount in a 
separate component of stockholders’ equity. A decline in fair value below amortized cost that is judged to be other-than-temporary is accounted for 
as a realized loss and the write down is included in earnings. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined on a specific 
identification basis.
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The following table shows our investments’ gross unrealized losses and fair value, at December 31, 2006, aggregated by investment category and 
length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands). 

Less than 12 months  12 months or more  Total

Description of Securities  Fair Value  
Unrealized 

Loss  Fair Value 
Unrealized 

Loss  Fair Value 
Unrealized 

Loss

State and municipal bonds $ 67,946 $ (275) $ 202,849 $ (3,240) $ 270,795 $ (3,515)

U.S. Treasury & agency securities 25,535 (77) 57,171 (750) 82,706 (827)

Mortgage-backed securities 40,021 (140) 126,151 (2,920) 166,172 (3,060)

Asset-backed securities 12,909 (26) 33,239 (734) 46,148 (760)
Corporate debt and other securities  9,045  (46)  123,032  (2,918)  132,077  (2,964)

  $ 155,456  $ (564)  $ 542,442  $ (10,562)  $ 697,898  $ (11,126)

The securities presented in this table do not meet the criteria for an other-than-temporarily impaired investment. The unrealized loss is almost 
exclusively the result of interest rate increases and not unfavorable changes in the credit ratings associated with these securities. These invest-
ments are not in high risk industries or sectors and we intend to hold these investments for a period of time sufficient to allow for a recovery in 
market value, which may be maturity. 

Goodwill and Other Long-lived Assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have indefinite lives are subject to a periodic assessment for impairment by applying a fair-value-based 
test. For our impairment analysis of the Health Plan segment goodwill, we used three approaches to identify the fair value of our goodwill and other 
intangible assets: a market approach, a market capitalization approach and an income approach. The market approach estimates a business’s fair 
value by analyzing the recent sales of similar companies. The market capitalization approach is based on the market value of our total shares out-
standing. The income approach is based on the present value of expected future cash flows. The income approach involves estimating the present 
value of the company’s estimated future cash flows, and discounting these cash flows at a given rate of return. All three approaches were reviewed 
together for consistency and commonality. 

For our impairment analysis of the First Health segment goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset, we engaged an independent business valuation 
firm to assist us in our analysis. For the First Health goodwill impairment analysis, we relied primarily on the income approach and secondarily on 
the market approach. For the First Health indefinite-lived asset, we relied on two separate variations of the income approach. Each approach was 
reviewed together for consistency and commonality. 

Under the income approach, we assumed certain growth rates, capital expenditures, discount rates and terminal growth rates in our calculations. 
If the assumptions used in our fair-value-based tests differ from actual results, the estimates underlying our goodwill impairment tests could be 
adversely affected. Any impairment charges that may result will be recorded in the period in which the impairment is identified. We have not 
incurred an impairment charge related to goodwill or indefinite lived intangibles. See Note C to the consolidated financial statements for additional 
disclosure related to intangible assets. 

Our remaining long-lived assets consist of property and equipment and other finite-lived intangible assets. These assets are depreciated or amor-
tized over their estimated useful life, and are subject to impairment reviews. In accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, “Accounting for 
the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” the cost of internally developed software is capitalized and included in 
property and equipment. We capitalize costs incurred during the application development stage for the development of internal-use software. 
These costs primarily relate to payroll and payroll-related costs for employees along with costs incurred for external consultants who are directly 
associated with the internal-use software project. We periodically review long-lived assets whenever adverse events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. In assessing recoverability, we must make assumptions regarding estimated future 
cash flows and other factors to determine if an impairment loss may exist, and, if so, estimate fair value. We also must estimate and make assump-
tions regarding the useful life we assign to our long-lived assets. If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, we may be 
required to record impairment losses or change the useful life, including accelerating depreciation for these assets.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense 
We account for share based compensation in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 
2004), “Shared-Based Payment” (“FAS 123R”). Under the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123R, determining the appropriate fair value 
model and calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards require the input of subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the 
share-based payment awards and stock price volatility. We have determined that a blend of the implied volatility of our tradeable options and the 
historical volatility of the Company’s share price is a better indicator of expected volatility and future stock price trends than historical volatility 
alone. Therefore, the expected volatility in 2006 was based on a blend of market-based implied volatility and the historical volatility of our stock. 
The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards represent our best estimates. In addition, we are required to 
estimate the expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only for those shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially differ-
ent from our estimate, the stock-based compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period. 
See Note F to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for a further discussion on stock-based compensation.

New Accounting Standards 

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued “Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—
an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109,” which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements 
in accordance with SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial position already taken or 
expected to be taken in a tax return. For a tax benefit to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination 
by applicable taxing authorities. The benefit recognized is the amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon final settlement 
of the tax position. FIN 48 was effective for the Company as of January 1, 2007. The change in net assets as a result of applying this pronouncement 
will be a change in accounting principle with the cumulative effect of the change required to be treated as an adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained earnings. The Company’s evaluation of the impact of adoption of FIN 48 is ongoing, and it is anticipated that the adoption of FIN 48 will not 
have a material impact on the Company’s January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. 

Acquisitions 

During the three years ended December 31, 2006, we completed two business combinations and a membership purchase. These business combi-
nations are all accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of each acquisition have been included 
in our consolidated financial statements since their effective date of acquisition. The purchase price for each business combination was allocated 
to the assets, including the identifiable intangible assets, and liabilities based on estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the 
net identifiable assets acquired was allocated to goodwill. The purchase price of our membership purchases is allocated to identifiable intangible 
assets and is being amortized over a useful life of ten to twenty years. 

The following table summarizes all business combinations and membership purchases for the three years ended December 31, 2006. The purchase 
price of each business combination includes the payment for net worth and estimated transition costs. The purchase price shown for recent acquisi-
tions, in millions, is inclusive of all retroactive balance sheet settlements and transaction cost adjustments. 

  Effective Date  Market  
Purchase 

Price

Business Combinations
First Health Group Corp. (“First Health”) January 28, 2005 Multiple Markets $ 1,695 
Provider Synergies, L.L.C. (“Provider Synergies”) January 1, 2006 Multiple Markets $ 22 

Membership Purchases
OmniCare Health Plan (“OmniCare”) October 1, 2004 Michigan $ 13 
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Effective January 28, 2005, we completed our acquisition of First Health. First Health is a full service national health benefits services company 
that serves the group health, workers’ compensation and state public program markets. Each outstanding share of First Health common stock was 
converted into a right to receive $9.375 cash and 0.2687 shares of Coventry common stock. As a result of the merger, we paid $863.1 million in cash and 
issued approximately 24.7 million shares of our common stock to stockholders of First Health. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase 
method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of First Health have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date 
of acquisition. The purchase price for First Health was allocated to the assets, including identifiable intangible assets and liabilities, based on estimated 
fair values. For additional information regarding the First Health acquisition, please refer to Note B to our consolidated financial statements.

Effective January 1, 2006, we completed the acquisition of Provider Synergies, an Ohio limited liability company. Provider Synergies manages preferred 
drug lists and negotiates rebates on behalf of state government and commercial clients. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method 
of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of Provider Synergies have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the date 
of acquisition. The pro forma effects of this acquisition were not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Membership 

The following table presents our Health Plan membership as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands) and the percentage change in member-
ship between these dates. 

December 31, Percent
Change  2006 2005 

Risk membership:
 Commercial 1,450 1,486 (2.4%)
 Medicare 80 75 6.7% 
 Medicaid  373  393  (5.1%)

  Total risk membership 1,903 1,954 (2.6%)
Non-risk membership  621  592  4.9%  

  Total membership  2,524  2,546  (0.9%)

Commercial insured membership decreased over the prior year end due to losses experienced in our Pennsylvania market and the expected loss of 
commercial insured members in our Louisiana operations during the first half of 2006, primarily due to Hurricane Katrina. Additionally, there were a 
few large groups changing from a risk product to a non-risk product. These losses were partially offset by gains in employer group business in other 
markets such as Delaware, Kansas and Georgia and also by growth in individual business across multiple markets. 

Medicaid membership decreased over the prior year end due to changes in the eligibility requirements for Medicaid beneficiaries throughout the 
Missouri market as well as the state of North Carolina’s termination of its existing managed care program during the third quarter resulting in a loss 
of approximately 7,400 members.

The increase in non-risk membership was attributable to organic growth in various markets as well as a few large groups changing from a risk 
product to a non-risk product.
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Results of Operations 

The following table is provided to facilitate a more meaningful discussion regarding the comparison of our operations for each of the three years in 
the period ended December 31, 2006 (in thousands, except earnings per share and membership data). 

 2006   2005   
Increase 

(Decrease) 2005   2004   
Increase 

(Decrease)

Consolidated Business 

 Total operating revenues $ 7,733,756 $ 6,611,246 17.0% $ 6,611,246 $ 5,311,969 24.5%
 Operating earnings $ 841,003 $ 791,818 6.2% $ 791,818 $ 496,671 59.4%
 Operating earnings as a % of revenue 10.9% 12.0% (1.1%) 12.0% 9.4% 2.6%
 Net earnings $ 560,045 $ 501,639 11.6% $ 501,639 $ 337,117 48.8%
 Diluted earnings per share $ 3.47 $ 3.10 11.9% $ 3.10 $ 2.48 25.0%
 Selling, general and administrative as a percentage of revenue 17.3% 17.9% (0.6%) 17.9% 11.5% 6.4%
Health Plan Business

Managed Care Premium Yields (per member per month):
 Commercial $ 259.52 $ 246.46 5.3% $ 246.46 $ 226.59 8.8%
 Medicare Advantage $ 857.28 $ 765.58 12.0% $ 765.58 $ 695.96 10.0%
 Medicaid $ 167.30 $ 157.52 6.2% $ 157.52 $ 145.23 8.5%
 Medicare Part D $ 90.48 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Medical Costs (per member per month):
 Commercial $ 201.66 $ 193.37 4.3% $ 193.37 $ 179.21 7.9%
 Medicare Advantage $ 681.07 $ 614.55 10.8% $ 614.55 $ 579.92 6.0%
 Medicaid $ 143.18 $ 133.32 7.4% $ 133.32 $ 126.88 5.1%
 Medicare Part D $ 76.42 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Medical Loss Ratios:
 Commercial 77.7% 78.5% (0.8%) 78.5% 79.1% (0.6%)
 Medicare Advantage 79.4% 80.3% (0.9%) 80.3% 83.3% (3.0%)
 Medicaid 85.6% 84.6% 1.0%  84.6% 87.4% (2.8%)

 Total 78.9% 79.5% (0.6%) 79.5% 80.5% (1.0%)

 Medicare Part D 84.5% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Administrative Statistics:
 Selling, general and administrative as a percentage of revenue 11.7% 11.4% 0.3% 11.4% 11.5% (0.1%)
 Days in medical liabilities (1) 55.0 55.6 (0.6) 55.6 55.8 (0.2)
First Health Business(2)

Membership
 National Accounts
  On-going accounts 460,000 669,000 669,000 n/a
  Run-out(3) 32,000  90,000     90,000  n/a    

 Total National Accounts 492,000 759,000 759,000 n/a
 Mail Handlers 406,000 462,000 462,000 n/a
Revenue by product lines
 National Accounts $ 113,990 $ 141,283 $ 141,283 n/a
 Federal Employees Health Benefit Plan 208,177 204,678 204,678 n/a
 Network Rental 126,573  89,442     89,442  n/a    

  Group Health Subtotal 448,740  435,403     435,403  n/a    

 Medicaid/Public Sector 184,503 183,197 183,197 n/a
 Workers’ Compensation 206,220  193,714     193,714  n/a    

  Specialty Business Subtotal 390,723  376,911     376,911  n/a    

 Total First Health Revenues $ 839,463  $ 812,314     $ 812,314  n/a    

Administrative Statistics:
Selling, general and administrative as a percentage of revenue 64.6% 64.9% 64.9% n/a

(1) Excludes Medicare Part D; (2)Results of Operations includes First Health since January 28, 2005, the date of acquisition; and (3)Company is still providing services to 
terminated customers.
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Comparison of 2006 to 2005 
Managed care premium revenue increased as a result of new business related to our Medicare Part D products and as a result of rate increases that 
occurred throughout all markets. Medicare Part D business accounted for $669.9 million of managed care premium revenue in 2006 which excludes $32.6 
million attributable to the estimated CMS risk-sharing payments that will be due to CMS upon the final settlement in 2007 for the 2006 plan year.

Additionally, we have quota share reinsurance arrangements with two of our Medicare Part D distribution partners. As a result of the quota sharing 
arrangements, we ceded Medicare Part D premium revenue to these partners of $65.8 million. This amount is excluded from the $669.9 million of 
reported Medicare Part D revenue. Before subtracting the quota share ceded revenue, the premium yield, per member per month, for Medicare Part D 
business would have been $8.88 higher than the $90.48 reported. When reviewing the premium yield for Medicare Part D business, adjusting for the 
ceded revenue is useful for comparisons to competitors that may not have similar ceding arrangements.

Commercial premium yields (premium per member per month) increased as a result of rate increases that occurred throughout all markets. The reported 
commercial premium yield increase of 5.3% is lower than the rate increases on renewing business due to a mix change in the types of plans being 
purchased as new business (such as a change to lower benefit plans); the types of plans being selected by renewing members when they have a 
choice among multiple options (such as a change to higher deductible, lower premium plans); and the termination of certain large groups which had high 
costs and high premium yields. Medicare Advantage premium yields increased as a result of the rate increases from the annual Competitive Bid filings. 
Medicaid premium yields increased as a result of rate increases effective January 1 and July 1, 2006 in Missouri, our largest Medicaid market.

Management services revenue decreased partially as a result of declines in membership in the National Accounts and Federal Employees Health 
Benefit Plan sectors of the First Health segment. Additionally, the implementation of Medicare Part D resulted in a decline of First Health pharmacy 
administration fee based revenue compared to the prior year, although this decline is more than offset by the increased revenue from our new 
Medicare Part D business discussed above in the managed care premium revenue section. These decreases are partially offset by reporting a full 
year of First Health results in 2006. First Health was acquired on January 28, 2005 and therefore only results from January 28, 2005 through 
December 31, 2005 are included in our 2005 results of operations.

Medical costs have increased as a result of new business related to our Medicare Part D products and as a result of medical trend. Medicare Part D 
medical costs totaled $565.9 million. Excluding Medicare Part D business, Health Plan medical costs as a percentage of premium revenue have 
declined 0.6% compared with the prior year period. The decline is primarily a result of premium increases and better than expected cost trends. The 
better than expected cost trends were primarily attributed to lower inpatient and outpatient utilization and the uncertainties at the prior year-end 
regarding our Louisiana operations and the effects from Hurricane Katrina. Days in total medical claims liabilities decreased slightly from the prior 
year due primarily to faster claim receipts and continually improved processing cycle times.

Selling, general and administrative expense increased primarily as a result of costs related to the new Medicare Part D business in 2006, reporting 
a full year of First Health results in 2006, recognizing stock option expense related to the adoption of SFAS 123(R) and increased salary expenses due 
to annual compensation increases. However, these increases are partially offset by synergies gained subsequent to the acquisition of First Health. 
Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue have improved as a result of these achieved synergies, continuing revenue 
growth and success in controlling overall administrative costs.

Depreciation and amortization increased as a result of reporting a full year of First Health results in 2006 and as a result of an increase in property 
and equipment over the past two years, primarily computer equipment and software related to our First Health business.

Interest expense was higher in the prior year as a result of the refinancing of our credit facilities during the prior year second quarter. As a result of the 
refinancing, we wrote off $5.4 million of deferred financing costs in the prior year second quarter related to the original credit facilities associated with 
the First Health acquisition. Additionally, our debt has declined over the last two years and, as a result, interest expense related to the indebtedness 
has also declined.

Other income increased as a result of a larger investment portfolio and a rise in interest rates during 2005 and 2006.

Our provision for income taxes increased almost exclusively due to an increase in earnings. The effective tax rate remained relatively flat at 37.5% in 
2006 compared to 37.3% in 2005. 
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Comparison of 2005 to 2004 
Managed care premium revenue increased as a result of rate increases that occurred throughout all markets and as a result of acquisitions. 
Commercial yields (premium per member per month) increased as a result of rate increases on renewals. Medicare yields increased as a result of 
the rate increases on January 1, 2005 from the annual Adjusted Community Rating filings. Medicaid yields increased as a result of a rate increase 
of 6.5% effective January 1, 2005 in Missouri, our largest Medicaid market, and as a result of the OmniCare acquisition which has a higher yield than 
our historical Medicaid membership. The acquisition of OmniCare effective October 1, 2004 and First Health effective January 28, 2005 accounted 
for $151.9 million of the increase in managed care premium revenue over the prior year. The First Health acquisition closed January 28, 2005 and, 
therefore, only results from January 28, 2005 through December 31, 2005 are included in our results of operations. 

Management services revenue increased almost entirely due to the acquisition of First Health. The acquisition of First Health accounted for $764.0 
million of the increase in management services revenue over the prior year. 

Medical costs have increased due to medical trend and acquisitions. However, Health Plan medical expense as a percentage of managed care premium 
revenue has improved to 79.5% compared to 80.5% in the prior year. This favorable change was attributable to premium rate increases discussed 
above outpacing medical trend in each of our Health Plan lines of business. The favorable change was also attributable to favorable inpatient utiliza-
tion during 2005, particularly in the third and fourth quarters, and a flu season in the first quarter of 2005 that was not as severe as it has been in 
previous years. Total reported commercial medical trend (per member per month), net of buydowns, was 7.9% in 2005. Days in total medical claims 
liabilities decreased slightly from the prior year due primarily to faster claim receipts and continually improved processing cycle times. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased primarily due to normal operating costs of First Health, which accounted for $523.7 million of 
the increase in selling, general and administrative expense. Additional increases include an increase in salary expense, Medicare Part D implementation 
costs and a full twelve months of normal operating costs of OmniCare. Salary expenses, excluding acquisitions, have increased due to annual com-
pensation increases and additional amortization expense related to restricted shares of common stock granted in 2004 and 2005. However, Health 
Plan selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue have improved as a result of continuing revenue growth and success 
in controlling administrative costs. 

Depreciation and amortization increased almost exclusively as a result of the acquisition of First Health. Depreciation expense for First Health, 
primarily for computer equipment and software, was $36.8 million and amortization of intangibles associated with the acquisition of First Health 
was $27.7 million. 

Interest expense increased as a result of the indebtedness incurred with the acquisition of First Health. Additionally, we refinanced our credit 
facilities during the second quarter. As a result, we wrote off $5.4 million of deferred financing costs related to the original credit facilities. 

Other income increased as a result of a larger investment portfolio and a rise in short term rates during the year.

Our provision for income taxes increased primarily due to an increase in earnings. The effective tax rate increased to 37.3% in 2005 from 36.0% in 
2004 primarily as a result of the First Health acquisition and a related change in the relative mix of states with income tax provisions. 

Medicare Private Fee For Service

Coventry submitted bids as a Medicare Private Fee For Service (“PFFS”) sponsor in 2006 for the 2007 benefit year. The bids are designed to provide 
solutions for individuals and employer group populations. Our primary distribution strategy for the Medicare PFFS program is through marketing 
alliances with other insurers and brokerage channels.

During the third quarter of 2006, we received approval to offer PFFS products in 43 states. The PFFS plans will be marketed under the brand name 
of Advantra Freedom. These plans include options with pharmacy benefits or stand alone medical benefits. In addition, there are benefit plans 
available at a zero premium option in most states.

Products will be underwritten by Coventry Health and Life Insurance Company, First Health Life and Health Insurance Company and Cambridge Life 
Insurance Company. We have established partnerships with Medicare Supplement insurance carriers and brokerage channels nationwide to provide 
Medicare Private Fee For Service to Medicare beneficiaries.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Liquidity 
The nature of a vast majority of our operations is such that cash receipts from premium revenues are typically received up to two months prior to the 
expected cash payment for related medical costs. Premium revenues are typically received at the beginning of the month in which they are earned, 
and the corresponding incurred medical expenses are paid in a future time period, typically 15 to 60 days after the date such medical services are 
rendered. The lag between premium receipts and claims payments creates positive cash flow and overall cash growth. As a result, we typically hold 
approximately two months of “float”. In addition, accumulated earnings provide further positive cash flow. In addition to ample current liquidity, our 
long-term investment portfolio is available for further liquidity needs. 

Our investment guidelines require our fixed income securities to be investment grade in order to provide liquidity to meet future payment obligations 
and minimize the risk to the principal. The fixed income portfolio includes government and corporate securities with an average quality rating of 
“AA+” and an average contractual duration of 2.8 years as of December 31, 2006. Typically, the amount and duration of our short-term assets are more 
than sufficient to pay for our short-term liabilities and we do not anticipate that sales of our long-term investment portfolio will be necessary to fund 
our claims liabilities. 

Our cash and investments, consisting of cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term investments, but excluding deposits of $56.4 million 
restricted under state regulations, increased $723.9 million to $2.7 billion at December 31, 2006 from $2.0 billion at December 31, 2005. 

On February 8, 2007, the Company announced it has signed a definitive agreement to acquire Concentra, Inc.’s workers’ compensation managed care 
services businesses. The Company will acquire the Concentra businesses for $387.5 million in an all-cash transaction expected to close in 90 to 180 
days, subject to closing conditions, regulatory and other customary approvals. We anticipate the funds for payment of the acquisition will be provided 
by existing cash, additional bank borrowings or a new bond offering.

On February 15, 2007, we redeemed all $170.5 million of our outstanding 8.125% Senior Notes.. We redeemed the Senior Notes at a redemption 
price equal to 104.1% of the principal amount plus interest accrued on the redemption date. We will record a charge, including the write-off of 
previously paid unamortized issuance costs, of approximately $9.1 million before tax, or $0.04 per diluted share in the first quarter of 2007. The 
funds for payment of the redemption price were provided by existing cash.. 

The demand for our products and services is subject to many economic fluctuations, risks and uncertainties that could materially affect the way we 
do business. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this Form 10-K for more information. Management believes that the combination of our ability  
to generate cash flows from operations, cash and investments on hand and the excess funds held in certain of our regulated subsidiaries will be 
sufficient to fund continuing operations, capital expenditures, debt interest costs, debt principal repayments and any other reasonably likely future 
cash requirements. 

Cash Flows 

Operating Activities
Net cash from operating activities is primarily driven by net earnings and an increase in medical liabilities. The increase in medical liabilities was 
driven by the addition of approximately $363.5 million related to the Part D program. Total cash inflows from Medicare Part D totaled $348.6 million. 
This amount included a net receipt of claim reinsurance subsidies from CMS of approximately $234.7 million. Following the final settlement in 2007 
related to the 2006 plan year, any remaining balances from reinsurance and other subsidy payments will be returned to CMS. Accounts payable and 
other liabilities increased primarily due to CMS risk sharing payment accruals, attributable largely to the Part D program; an increase in income taxes 
payable; and other normal operating activities. Accounts receivable decreased during the year as a result of strong collections. Offsetting these 
operating cash inflows was an increase in other receivables which was primarily a result of pharmacy rebate receivables recorded related to the 
Part D program. 

Financing and Investing Activities 
Proceeds from the issuance of debt include indebtedness incurred in 2005 related to the acquisition of First Health, less payments made for debt 
issuance costs. The issuance of debt includes $500 million of new senior notes, unsecured credit facilities consisting of a $300 million five-year term 
loan and $65 million from a revolving credit facility drawn at closing on January 28, 2005. Proceeds also include new credit facilities the Company 
entered into on June 30, 2005 providing for a revolving credit facility in the principal amount of $350 million, of which $117.5 million was drawn at 
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closing, and a term loan in the principal amount of $100 million. Payments for retirement of debt include the repayment of a $200 million long-term 
credit facility assumed from the acquisition of First Health, repayment of the $365 million original credit facilities and the $117.5 million repayment 
of the new revolving credit facility. 

The senior notes and credit facilities require compliance with specified financial ratios and contain certain covenants and restrictions regarding 
incurring additional debt, limiting dividends or other restricted payments, and restricting sales of assets above a certain threshold and consolida-
tions or mergers in the context of a change of control. We have complied with all ratios and covenants under the senior notes and credit facilities.

Capital expenditures in 2006 of approximately $72.6 million consist primarily of computer hardware, software and related costs associated with the 
development and implementation of improved operational and communication systems. Projected capital expenditures in 2007 of approximately 
$65-$70 million consist primarily of computer hardware, software and other equipment.

Our Board of Directors has approved a program to repurchase our outstanding common stock. Stock repurchases may be made from time to time at 
prevailing prices on the open market, by block purchase or in private transactions. In February 2006, our Board of Directors approved an increase  
to the share repurchase program in an amount equal to 5% of our outstanding common stock, thus increasing our repurchase authorization by 8.1 
million shares. As a part of this program, 3.0 million shares were purchased during the first quarter of 2004 at an aggregate cost of $84.6 million, no 
shares were purchased in 2005 and 4.6 million shares of our common stock were purchased in 2006 at an aggregate cost of $256.1 million. As of 
December 31, 2006, the total remaining common shares we are authorized to repurchase under this program is 6.2 million. We intend to repurchase 
approximately $200 million of our shares during the first quarter of 2007 under this program.

Health Plans 
Our regulated HMO and insurance company subsidiaries are required by state regulatory agencies to maintain minimum surplus balances, thereby 
limiting the dividends the parent may receive from our regulated entities. During 2006, we received $297 million in dividends from our regulated 
subsidiaries.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) has proposed that states adopt risk-based capital (“RBC”) standards that, if 
adopted, would generally require higher minimum capitalization requirements for HMOs and other risk-bearing health care entities. RBC is a method 
of measuring the minimum amount of capital appropriate for a managed care organization to support its overall business operations in consideration 
of its size and risk profile. The managed care organization’s RBC is calculated by applying factors to various assets, premiums and reserve items. The 
factor is higher for those items with greater underlying risk and lower for less risky items. The adequacy of a managed care organization’s actual 
capital can then be measured by a comparison to its RBC as determined by the formula. Our health plans are required to submit an RBC report to the 
NAIC and their domiciled state’s department of insurance with their annual filing. 

Regulators will use the RBC results to determine if any regulatory actions are required. Regulatory actions that could take place, if any, range from 
filing a financial action plan explaining how the plan will increase its statutory net worth to the approved levels, to the health plan being placed 
under regulatory control. 

The majority of states in which we operate health plans have adopted a risk-based capital (“RBC”) policy that recommends the health plans main-
tain statutory reserves at or above the ‘Company Action Level’ which is currently equal to 200% of their RBC. We have adopted an internal policy 
to maintain all of our regulated subsidiaries’ statutory capital and surplus at or above 250% of their RBC and a level of 300% in aggregate (referred 
to below as “300% of RBC”). Some states in which our regulated subsidiaries operate require deposits to be maintained with the respective states’ 
departments of insurance. The table below summarizes our statutory reserve information, as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 (in millions, except 
percentage data). 

  2006   2005  

Regulated capital and surplus $ 1,070.6(a)  $ 897.4 

300% of RBC $ 666.5(a)  $ 555.3(a)

Excess capital and surplus above 300% of RBC $ 404.1(a) $ 342.1(a)

Capital and surplus as percentage of RBC 481%(a) 485%(a)

Statutory deposits $ 56.4 $ 49.4 

(a)unaudited

The increase in capital and surplus for our regulated subsidiaries is a result of net earnings partially offset by dividends paid to the parent company.
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We believe that all subsidiaries which incur medical claims maintain more than adequate liquidity and capital resources to meet these short-term 
obligations as a matter of both Company policy and multiple Department of Insurance regulations. 

Excluding funds held by entities subject to regulation and excluding our investment in an equipment leasing limited liability company, we had cash 
and investments of approximately $563.1 million and $347.2 million at December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively. The increase was 
primarily due to the dividends received from our regulated subsidiaries and earnings from our non-regulated First Health business offset, in part, by 
the share repurchases discussed previously. 

Other 
As of December 31, 2006, we were contractually obligated to make the following payments within the next five years and thereafter (in thousands): 

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations  Total  
Less than 

1 Year  1–3 Years  3–5 Years  
More than 

5 years 

Senior notes $ 670,500 $ — $ — $ — $ 670,500
Interest payable on senior notes 287,129 43,853 87,706 87,706 67,864
Credit Facilities 90,000 10,000 20,000 60,000 —
Interest payable on credit facilities 13,670 4,517 7,533 1,620 —
Software purchases 9,000 3,000 1,000 5,000 —
Operating leases  125,407  26,993  47,533  30,579  20,302 

Total contractual obligations  1,195,706  88,363  163,772  184,905  758,666 

Less sublease income  (8,129)  (1,716)  (2,831)  (2,146)  (1,436)

Net contractual obligations  $ 1,187,577  $ 86,647  $ 160,941  $ 182,759  $ 757,230 

Refer to Note J to our consolidated financial statements for disclosure related to our operating leases. 

We have typically paid 90% to 95% of medical claims within 6 months of the date incurred and approximately 99% of medical claims within 9 months 
of the date incurred. Accordingly, we believe medical claims liabilities are short-term in nature and therefore do not meet the listed criteria for clas-
sification as contractual obligations and have been excluded from the table above. 

Other Disclosure 

Legal Proceedings 
In the normal course of business, we have been named as a defendant in various legal actions such as actions seeking payments for claims denied 
by us, medical malpractice actions, employment related claims and other various claims seeking monetary damages. The claims are in various stages 
of proceedings and some may ultimately be brought to trial. Incidents occurring through December 31, 2006 may result in the assertion of additional 
claims. We maintain general liability, professional liability and employment practices liability insurances in amounts that we believe are appropriate, 
with varying deductibles for which we maintain reserves. The professional liability and employment practices liability insurances are carried through 
our captive subsidiary. Although the results of pending litigation are always uncertain, we do not believe the results of such actions currently threatened 
or pending, including those described below, will individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position 
or results of operations.

We are a defendant in the provider track of the In Re: Managed Care Litigation filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 
Florida, Miami Division, Multi-District Litigation (“MDL”), No. 1334, in the action captioned, Charles B. Shane., et al., vs. Humana, Inc., et al. This 
lawsuit was filed by a group of physicians as a class action against Coventry and nine other companies in the managed care industry. The plaintiffs 
alleged violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), conspiracy to violate RICO and aiding and abetting a scheme to 
violate RICO. In addition to these federal law claims, the complaint included state law claims for breach of contract, violations of various state prompt 
payment laws and equitable claims for unjust enrichment and quantum meruit. The trial court dismissed several of the state law claims and ordered 
all physicians who had an arbitration provision in their provider contracts to submit their direct RICO claims and their remaining state law claims to 
arbitration. As a consequence of this ruling, the plaintiffs who had arbitration provisions voluntarily dismissed their claims that were subject  
to arbitration. In its order, the trial court also held that the plaintiffs’ claims of (1) conspiracy to violate RICO and (2) aiding and abetting violations of 
RICO were not subject to arbitration. The trial court then certified various subclasses of plaintiffs with respect to these two federal law claims. 
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Seven defendants have entered into settlement agreements with the plaintiffs, which have received final approval from the trial court. On June 16, 
2006, the trial court filed an order in the Shane lawsuit which granted summary judgment on all claims in favor of Coventry. The trial court also 
granted summary judgment on all claims in favor of two other defendants. The plaintiffs have appealed the trial court’s summary judgment order to 
the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. The Shane lawsuit has triggered the filing of copycat class action complaints by other health care providers 
such as chiropractors, podiatrists, acupuncturists and other licensed health care professionals. Each of these actions has been transferred to the 
MDL and have been designated as “tag-along” actions. The court has entered an order which stays all proceedings in the tag-along actions until all 
pre-trial proceedings in the Shane action have been concluded. Although we can not predict the outcome, we believe that the Shane and the tag-along 
actions will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or our results of operations. Management also believes that the claims asserted 
in these lawsuits are without merit and the Company intends to defend its position. 

Legislation and Regulation 
As a managed health care company, we are subject to extensive government regulation of our products and services. The laws and regulations 
affecting our industry generally give state and federal regulatory authorities broad discretion in their exercise of supervisory, regulatory and admin-
istrative powers. These laws and regulations are intended primarily for the benefit of the members of the health plans. Managed care laws and 
regulations vary significantly from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and changes are frequently considered and implemented. Likewise, interpretations of 
these laws and regulations are also subject to change. 

Although the provisions of any legislation adopted at the state or federal level can not be accurately predicted at this time, management believes 
that the ultimate outcome of currently proposed legislation should not have a material adverse effect on the results of our operations in the short-term. 
Nevertheless, it is possible that future legislation or regulation could have a significant effect on our operations. 

Inflation 
In recent years, health care cost inflation has exceeded the general inflation rate. To reduce the effect of health care cost inflation on our business 
operations we have, where possible, increased premium rates and implemented cost control measures in our patient care management and provider 
contracting. We can not be certain that we will be able to increase future premium rates at a rate that equals or exceeds the health care cost inflation 
rate or that our other cost control measures will be effective. 

2007 Outlook 
In 2007, we are expecting our total Health Plan commercial risk membership to ultimately remain approximately flat with 2006 year-end results. We 
expect Health Plan non-risk membership to be up 5% to 6% compared to 2006 year-end membership. We expect Medicare Advantage (excluding 
PFFS) membership to grow in the range of 5% to 10% during 2007, and expect Health Plan Medicaid membership to be up over 10% for the year,  
the majority of which resulting from the acquisition of approximately 31,000 members in our Missouri market in February 2007. In the aggregate,  
we expect total Health Plan membership to be flat to slightly down in Q1 2007, including the impact of the Medicaid acquisition.

For 2007, we will offer a new Medicare Advantage PFFS plan in 43 states. Through the combined efforts of our various distribution channels, we 
expect to generate between 90,000 to 100,000 new PFFS members during 2007 with associated revenue of approximately $700 million. 

Risk Factors 

The risks described below are not the only ones that we face. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may 
also impair our business operations. 

Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. Further, the trading price of 
our common stock could decline due to any of these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment. 

Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are unable to accurately estimate and control future health care costs. 

Most of the premium revenue we receive is based upon rates set months before we deliver services. As a result, our results of operations largely 
depend on our ability to accurately estimate and control future health care costs. We base the premiums we charge, at least in part, on our estimate 
of expected health care costs over the applicable premium period. Factors that may cause health care costs to exceed our estimates include: 

• an increase in the cost of health care services and supplies, including pharmaceuticals; 
• higher than expected utilization of health care services; 
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• periodic renegotiations of hospital, physician and other provider contracts; 
• the occurrence of epidemics and catastrophic events; 
• changes in the demographics of our members and medical trends affecting them; 
• general inflation or economic downturns; 
• new mandated benefits or other regulatory changes that increase our costs; and 
• other unforeseen occurrences. 

In addition, medical liabilities in our financial statements include our estimated reserves for incurred but not reported and reported but not paid 
claims. The estimates for medical liabilities are made on an accrual basis. We believe that our reserves for medical liabilities are adequate, but we 
can not assure you of this. Any adjustments to our medical liabilities could adversely affect our results of operations. 

Our results of operations will be adversely affected if we are unable to increase premiums to offset increases in our health care costs. 

Our results of operations depend on our ability to increase premiums to offset increases in our health care costs. Although we attempt to base the 
premiums we charge on our estimate of future health care costs, we may not be able to control the premiums we charge as a result of competition, 
government regulations and other factors. Our results of operations could be adversely affected if we are unable to set premium rates at appropriate 
levels or adjust premium rates in the event our health care costs increase. 

A reduction in the number of members in our health plans could adversely affect our results of operations. 

A reduction in the number of members in our health plans could adversely affect our results of operations. Factors that could contribute to the loss 
of membership include: 

• competition in premium or plan benefits from other health care benefit companies; 
• reductions in the number of employers offering health care coverage; 
• reductions in work force by existing customers; 
• our increases in premiums or benefit changes; 
• our exit from a market or the termination of a health plan; 
• negative publicity and news coverage relating to our company or the managed health care industry generally; and
• catastrophic events, including natural disasters and man-made catastrophes, and other unforeseen occurrences. 

Our growth strategy is dependent in part upon our ability to acquire additional managed care businesses and successfully integrate those businesses 
into our operations. 

Part of our growth strategy is to grow through the acquisition of additional health plans and other managed care businesses. Historically, we have 
significantly increased our revenues through a number of acquisitions. We can not assure you that we will be able to continue to locate suitable 
acquisition candidates, successfully integrate the businesses we acquire and realize anticipated operational improvements and cost savings. The 
businesses we acquire also may not achieve our anticipated levels of profitability. Our future growth rate will be adversely affected if we are not 
able to successfully complete acquisitions. 

Competition may limit our ability to attract new members or to increase or maintain our premium rates, which would adversely affect our results of operations. 

We operate in a highly competitive environment that may affect our ability to attract new members and increase premium rates. We compete with 
other health plans for members. We believe the principal factors influencing the choice among health care options are: 

• price of benefits offered and cost and risk of alternatives such as self-insurance; 
• location and choice of health care providers; 
• quality of customer service; 
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• comprehensiveness of coverage offered; 
• reputation for quality care; 
• financial stability of the plan; and 
• diversity of product offerings. 

We compete with other managed care companies that may have broader geographical coverage, more established reputations in our markets, 
greater market share, larger contracting scale, lower costs and/or greater financial and other resources. We also may face increased rate competition 
from certain Blue Cross plan competitors that might be required by state regulation to reduce capital surpluses that may be deemed excessive. 

Competition in the multi-site, national account business may limit our ability to grow revenues which could adversely affect our results of operations.

First Health competes in a highly competitive environment against other major national managed care companies in its national account customers 
to provide administrative, network access, and medical management services to large, multi-site, self-insured employers. Among these competitors 
are Aetna, United Healthcare and “Blue Card” (a joint venture of major Blue Cross plans), all of which have greater resources, brand identity and 
provider contracting scale compared to First Health or Coventry. 

We depend on the services of non-exclusive independent agents and brokers to market our products to employers, and we can not assure you that they 
will continue to market our products in the future. 

We depend on the services of independent agents and brokers to market our managed care products and services, particularly to small employer 
group members. We do not have long term contracts with independent agents and brokers, who typically are not dedicated exclusively to us and 
frequently market the health care products of our competitors. We face intense competition for the services and allegiance of independent agents 
and brokers, and we can not assure you that agents and brokers will continue to market our products in a fair and consistent manner. 

Our failure to obtain cost-effective agreements with a sufficient number of providers may result in higher medical costs and a decrease in our membership. 

Our future results largely depend on our ability to enter into cost-effective agreements with hospitals, physicians and other health care providers. 
The terms of those provider contracts will have a material effect on our medical costs and our ability to control these costs. In addition, our ability 
to contract successfully with a sufficiently large number of providers in a particular geographic market will impact the relative attractiveness of our 
managed care products in those markets, and our ability to contract at competitive rates with our PPO and workers’ compensation related providers 
will affect the attractiveness and profitability of our products in the national account, network rental and workers’ compensation businesses. 

In some of our markets, there are large provider systems that have a major presence. Some of these large provider systems have operated their own 
health plans in the past or may choose to do so in the future. These provider systems could adversely affect our product offerings and results of 
operations if they refuse to contract with us, place us at a competitive disadvantage or use their market position to negotiate contracts that are less 
favorable to us. Provider agreements are subject to periodic renewal and renegotiations. We can not assure you that these large provider systems 
will continue to contract with us or that they will contract with us on terms that are favorable to us. 

We may incur significant expenses in connection with implementing our new Medicare Advantage Private Fee-For-Service (PFFS) plan, which may have 
an adverse effect on our near-term operating results. 

We received approval from CMS to offer PFFS plans. We have begun to incur expenses to upgrade and improve our infrastructure, technology, and 
systems to manage our PFFS product. We incurred significant expenses in 2006 as we prepared to provide these PFFS benefits as of January 1, 
2007, and will in the future incur additional expenses. In particular, our expenses incurred in connection with the implementation of our PFFS ben-
efits related to the following:

• hiring and training of personnel to establish and manage systems, operations, regulatory relationships, and materials;
• systems development and upgrade costs, including hardware, software and development resources;
• marketing and sales;
• enrolling new members;
• developing and distributing member materials such as ID cards and member handbooks; and
• handling sales inquiry and customer service calls.
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Negative publicity regarding the managed health care industry generally or our Company in particular could adversely affect our results of operations 
or business. 

Over the last several years, the managed health care industry has been subject to negative publicity. Negative publicity regarding the managed 
health care industry generally or our company in particular may result in increased regulation and legislative review of industry practices further 
increase our costs of doing business and adversely affect our results of operations by: 

• requiring us to change our products and services; 
• increasing the regulatory burdens under which we operate; or 
• adversely affecting our ability to market our products or services. 

Negative publicity relating to our company or the managed care industry generally also may adversely affect our ability to attract and retain members. 

A failure of our information technology systems could adversely affect our business. 

We depend on our information technology systems for timely and accurate information. Failure to maintain effective and efficient information 
technology systems or disruptions in our information technology systems could cause disruptions in our business operations, loss of existing cus-
tomers, difficulty in attracting new customers, disputes with customers and providers, regulatory problems, increases in administrative expenses 
and other adverse consequences. 

We conduct business in a heavily regulated industry and changes in laws or regulations or alleged violations of regulations could adversely affect our 
business and results of operations. 

Our business is heavily regulated by federal, state and local authorities. Legislation or other regulatory reform that increases the regulatory require-
ments imposed on us or that changes the way we currently do business may in the future adversely affect our business and results of operations. 
Legislative or regulatory changes that could significantly harm us and our subsidiaries include changes that: 

•  impose increased liability for adverse consequences of medical decisions; 
•  limit premium levels; 
•  increase minimum capital, reserves and other financial viability requirements; 
•  impose fines or other penalties for the failure to pay claims promptly; 
•  impose fines or other penalties as a result of market conduct reviews; 
•  prohibit or limit rental access to health care provider networks; 
•  prohibit or limit provider financial incentives and provider risk-sharing arrangements; 
•  require health plans to offer expanded or new benefits; 
•  limit ability of health plans to manage care and utilization due to “any willing provider” and direct access laws that restrict or prohibit product 

features that encourage members to seek services from contracted providers or through referral by a primary care provider; 
•  limit contractual terms with providers, including audit, payment and termination provisions; 
•  implement mandatory third party review processes for coverage denials; and 
•  impose additional health care information privacy or security requirements. 

We also may be subject to governmental investigations or inquiries from time to time. For example in 2004, several companies in the insurance 
industry have received subpoenas for information from the New York Attorney General and the Connecticut Attorney General with respect to an 
industry wide investigation into certain insurance brokerage practices, including broker compensation arrangements, bid quoting practices and 
potential antitrust violations. Insurance regulators in several states, including states in which our subsidiaries are domiciled, have sent letters of 
inquiry concerning similar matters to the companies subject to their jurisdiction, including our subsidiaries. We have furnished the information 
requested and have received no further inquiry or comment from the insurance regulatory authorities. The existence of such investigations in our 
industry could negatively impact the market value of all companies in our industry including our stock price. Any similar governmental investigations 
of Coventry could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or business or result in significant liabilities to the 
Company, as well as adverse publicity. 
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In addition, we are required to obtain and maintain various regulatory approvals to market many of our products. Delays in obtaining or failure to 
obtain or maintain these approvals could adversely impact our results of operations. Federal, state and local authorities frequently consider changes 
to laws and regulations that could adversely affect our business. We can not predict the changes that government authorities will approve in the 
future or assure you that those changes will not have an adverse effect on our business or results of operations. 

We face periodic reviews, audits and investigations under our contracts with federal and state government agencies, and these audits could have 
adverse findings that may negatively affect our business. 

We contract with various federal and state governmental agencies to provide managed health care services. Pursuant to these contracts, we are 
subject to various governmental reviews, audits and investigations to verify our compliance with the contracts and applicable laws and regulations. 
Any adverse review, audit or investigation could result in: 

• refunding of amounts we have been paid pursuant to our government contracts; 
• imposition of fines, penalties and other sanctions on us; 
• loss of our right to participate in various federal programs; 
• damage to our reputation in various markets; 
• increased difficulty in selling our products and services; and 
• loss of one or more of our licenses to act as an insurer or HMO or to otherwise provide a service. 

We may be adversely affected by changes in government funding for Medicare and Medicaid. 

The federal government and many states from time to time consider altering the level of funding for government healthcare programs, including 
Medicare and Medicaid. The Deficit Reduction Act of 2006, signed into law on February 8, 2006, included Medicaid cuts of approximately $4.8 
billion over 5 years. In addition, proposed regulatory changes would, if implemented, further reduce federal Medicaid funding. We cannot predict 
future Medicare or Medicaid funding levels or ensure that changes to Medicare or Medicaid funding will not have an adverse effect on our business 
or results of operations.

We are subject to litigation in the ordinary course of our business, including litigation based on new or evolving legal theories that could adversely 
affect our results of operations. 

Due to the nature of our business, we are subject to a variety of legal actions relating to our business operations including claims relating to: 

• our denial of non-covered benefits; 
• vicarious liability for medical malpractice claims filed against our providers; 
• disputes with our providers alleging RICO and antitrust violations; 
• disputes with our providers over reimbursement and termination of provider contracts; 
•  disputes related to our non-risk business, including actions alleging breach of fiduciary duties, claim administration errors and failure to disclose 

network rate discounts and other fee and rebate arrangements; 
• disputes over our co-payment calculations; 
• customer audits of our compliance with our plan obligations; and 
• disputes over payments for out-of-network benefits. 

In addition, plaintiffs continue to bring new types of legal claims against managed care companies. Recent court decisions and legislative activity 
increase our exposure to these types of claims. In some cases, plaintiffs may seek class action status and substantial economic, non-economic or 
punitive damages. The loss of even one of these claims, if it resulted in a significant damage award, could have an adverse effect on our financial 
condition or results of operations. In the event a plaintiff was to obtain a significant damage award it may make reasonable settlements of claims 
more difficult to obtain. We can not determine with any certainty what new theories of recovery may evolve or what their impact may be on the 
managed care industry in general or on us in particular. 

We have, and expect to maintain, liability insurance coverage for some of the potential legal liabilities we may incur. Currently, professional liability 
and employment practices liability insurance is covered through our captive subsidiary. Potential liabilities that we incur may not, however, be 
covered by insurance, our insurers may dispute coverage or may be unable to meet their obligations or the amount of our insurance coverage may  
be inadequate. We can not assure you that we will be able to obtain insurance coverage in the future, or that insurance will continue to be available 
on a cost effective basis, if at all. 
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Our stock price and trading volume may be volatile. 

From time to time, the price and trading volume of our common stock, as well as the stock of other companies in the health care industry, may 
experience periods of significant volatility. Company-specific issues and developments generally in the health care industry (including the regulatory 
environment) and the capital markets may cause this volatility. Our stock price and trading volume may fluctuate in response to a number of events 
and factors, including: 

•  variations in our operating results; 
•  changes in the market’s expectations about our future operating results; 
•  changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning our company or the health care industry generally; 
•  operating and stock price performance of other companies that investors may deem comparable; 
•  news reports relating to trends in our markets; 
•  changes in the laws and regulations affecting our business; 
•  acquisitions and financings by us or others in our industry; and 
•  sales of substantial amounts of our common stock by our directors and executive officers or principal stockholders, or the perception that such 

sales could occur. 

Our indebtedness imposes restrictions on our business and operations. 

The indentures for our senior notes and bank credit agreement impose restrictions on our business and operations. These restrictions limit our ability 
to, among other things: 

•  incur additional debt; 
•  pay dividends or make other restricted payments; 
•  create or permit certain liens on our assets; 
•  sell assets; 
•  create or permit restrictions on the ability of certain of our restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other distributions to us; 
•  enter into transactions with affiliates; 
•  enter into sale and leaseback transactions; and 
•  consolidate or merge with or into other companies or sell all or substantially all of our assets. 

Our ability to generate sufficient cash to service our indebtedness will depend on numerous factors beyond our control. 

Our ability to service our indebtedness will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. Our ability to generate the cash necessary to service 
our indebtedness is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. We can 
not assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available in an amount sufficient 
to enable us to service our indebtedness or to fund other liquidity needs. In addition, we will be more vulnerable to economic downturns, adverse 
industry conditions and competitive pressures as a result of our significant indebtedness. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebted-
ness before maturity. We can not assure you that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness or that we will be able to refinance our 
indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms. 

A substantial amount of our cash flow is generated by our regulated subsidiaries.

Our regulated subsidiaries conduct a substantial amount of our consolidated operations. Consequently, our cash flow and our ability to pay our debt 
and fund future acquisitions depends, in part, on the amount of cash that the parent company receives from our regulated subsidiaries. Our subsid-
iaries’ ability to make any payments to the parent company will depend on their earnings, business and tax considerations, legal and regulatory 
restrictions and economic conditions. Our regulated subsidiaries are subject to HMO and insurance regulations that require them to meet or exceed 
various capital standards and may restrict their ability to pay dividends or make cash transfers to the parent company. If our regulated subsidiaries 
are restricted from paying the parent company dividends or otherwise making cash transfers to the parent company, it could have material adverse 
effect on the parent company’s cash flow. For additional information regarding our regulated subsidiaries’ statutory capital requirements, see Part II, 
Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Statutory 
Capital Requirements.”
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Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law could delay, discourage or prevent a change in control of our Company that our stockholders 
may consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may delay, discourage or prevent a merger, acquisition or change in 
control involving our company that our stockholders may consider favorable. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it 
more difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. Among other things, these provisions:

•  provide for a classified board of directors with staggered three-year terms so that no more than one-third of our directors can be replaced at any 
annual meeting;

•  provide that directors may be removed without cause only by the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of our outstanding shares;
•  provide that amendment or repeal of the provisions of our certificate of incorporation establishing our classified board of directors must be 

approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of three-fourths of our outstanding shares; and
•  establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by 

stockholders at a meeting.

These provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may discourage transactions that otherwise could provide for the 
payment of a premium over prevailing market prices for our common stock and also could limit the price that investors are willing to pay in the future 
for shares of our common stock.

Changes in general economic conditions could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Changes in economic conditions could adversely affect our business and results of operations. The state of the economy could adversely affect our 
employer group renewal prospects and our ability to collect or increase premiums. The state of the economy could also adversely affect the states’ 
budgets, which could result in the states attempting to reduce payments to Medicaid plans in those states in which we offer Medicaid plans, and 
increase taxes and assessments on our activities. Although we could attempt to mitigate or cover our exposure from such increased costs through, 
among other things, increases in premiums, there can be no assurance that we will be able to mitigate or cover all of such costs resulting from any 
budget cuts in states in which we operate. Although we have attempted to diversify our product offerings to address the changing needs of our 
membership, the effects of economic conditions could cause our existing membership to seek health coverage alternatives that we do not offer or 
could result in significant membership loss, lower average premium yields or decreased margins on continuing membership.

Our efforts to capitalize on Medicare business opportunities could prove to be unsuccessful. 

Medicare programs represent a significant portion of our business, accounting for approximately 19.2% of our total revenue in 2006 and is expected 
to exceed 26.0% in 2007. In connection with the passage of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the 
“Drug Act”) and the Drug Act’s implementing regulations adopted in 2005, we have significantly expanded our Medicare health plans, restructured 
our Medicare program management team and operations to enhance our ability to pursue business opportunities presented by the Drug Act and the 
Medicare program generally. 

Particular risks associated with our providing Medicare Part D prescription drug benefits under the Drug Act include potential uncollectibility of 
receivables, inadequacy of underwriting assumptions, inability to receive and process information and increased pharmaceutical costs (as well as 
the underlying seasonality of this business). 

In 2007, we expect that our Medicare programs will expand. Specifically, we will be introducing PFFS Medicare Advantage plans, expanding our 
Medicare Part D prescription drug benefits plans to all states, and enhancing our HMO/PPO product offerings. All of these growth activities require 
substantial administrative and operational capabilities which we are in the process of developing. If the transition and implementation of these key 
operational functions does not occur as scheduled, or we are unable to develop administrative capabilities to address the additional needs of our 
growing Medicare programs, it could have a material adverse effect on our Medicare business and operating results. 

In addition, if the cost or complexity of the recent Medicare changes exceed our expectations or prevent effective program implementation, if the 
government alters or reduces funding of Medicare programs, if we fail to design and maintain programs that are attractive to Medicare participants 
or if we are not successful in winning contract renewals or new contracts under the Drug Act’s competitive bidding process, our current Medicare 
business and our ability to expand our Medicare operations could be materially and adversely affected, and we may not be able to realize any return 
on our investments in Medicare initiatives.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
Under an investment policy approved by our Board of Directors, we invest primarily in marketable U.S. government and agency, state, municipal, 
mortgage-backed and asset-backed securities and corporate debt obligations that are investment grade. Prior to the acquisition of First Health, our 
Investment Policy and Guidelines did not permit equity-type investments or fixed income securities that are below investment grade. As described 
in the notes to the financial statements, we acquired investments in an equipment leasing limited liability company through our acquisition of First 
Health. The Board approved modifications to our investment guidelines by adopting a permitted exception to allow for such investments if, in our 
best interest, such investments were not disposed within 90 days after acquisition. We determined it would not be in our best interest to liquidate 
this investment and therefore the investment in the equipment leasing limited liability company was approved as a permitted exception. We have 
classified all of our investments as available-for-sale. We are exposed to certain market risks including interest rate risk and credit risk. 

We have established policies and procedures to manage our exposure to changes in the fair value of our investments. Our policies include an empha-
sis on credit quality and the management of our portfolio’s duration and mix of securities. We believe our investment portfolio is diversified and 
currently expect no material loss to result from the failure to perform by the issuers of the debt securities we hold. The mortgage-backed securities 
are insured by several associations, including Government National Mortgage Administration, Federal National Mortgage Administration and the 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation. 

We invest primarily in fixed income securities and classify all our investments as available-for-sale. Investments are evaluated on an individual 
security basis at least quarterly to determine if declines in value are other-than-temporary. In making that determination, we consider all available 
evidence relating to the realizable value of a security. This evidence includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

• adverse financial conditions of a specific issuer, segment, industry, region or other variables; 
• the length of the time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost; 
• the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; 
• our intent and ability to retain our investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value; 
• elimination or reduction in dividend payments, or scheduled interest and principal; 
• rating agency downgrade of a debt security; and 
• expected cash flows of a debt security. 

Temporary declines in value of investments classified as available-for-sale are netted with unrealized gains and reported as a net amount in a separate 
component of stockholders’ equity. A decline in fair value below amortized cost that is judged to be other-than-temporary is accounted for as a realized 
loss and the write down is included in earnings. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined on a specific identification 
basis. The current unrealized loss is almost exclusively the result of interest rate increases and not unfavorable changes in the credit ratings associated 
with these securities. These investments are not in high risk industries or sectors and we intend to hold these investments for a period of time 
sufficient to allow for a recovery in market value, which may be maturity. See Note E to our consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K for 
more information concerning other-than-temporary impaired investments. 
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Our investments at December 31, 2006 mature according to their contractual terms, as follows, in thousands (actual maturities may differ because 
of call or prepayment rights): 

As of December 31, 2006  
Amortized 

Cost 
Fair 

Value

Maturities:
 Within 1 year $ 369,983 $ 369,455 
 1 to 5 years 380,325 377,011 
 5 to 10 years 262,409 262,573 
 Over 10 years  361,737  359,847 

Total  $ 1,374,454  1,368,886 

 Equity investment    54,078 

Total short-term and long-term securities    $ 1,422,964 

Our projections of hypothetical net gains in fair value of our market rate sensitive instruments, should potential changes in market rates occur, are 
presented below. The projection is based on a model, which incorporates effective duration, convexity and price to forecast hypothetical instanta-
neous changes in interest rates of positive and negative 100, 200 and 300 basis points. The model only takes into account the fixed income securities 
in the portfolio and excludes all cash. While we believe that the potential market rate change is reasonably possible, actual results may differ. 

(in thousands)
Increase (Decrease) in Fair Value of Portfolio  

Given an Interest Rate (Decrease) Increase of X Basis Points as of December 31, 2006 

(300) (200) (100) 100  200  300  

$101,456  $66,067  $33,501  $(35,098)  $(70,631)  $(105,456)
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Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Coventry Health Care, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Coventry Health Care, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, 
and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Coventry 
Health Care, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of 
Coventry Health Care, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 28, 2007 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

As discussed in Note F to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2006, Coventry Health Care, Inc. changed its method of accounting for 
stock-based compensation in accordance with guidance provided in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.”

ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
February 28, 2007
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands)

December 31,

  2006  2005 

Assets
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents $1,370,836 $ 391,646
 Short-term investments 292,392 545,615
 Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,906 and $3,583 as of December 31, 2006  
  and 2005, respectively 209,180 228,028
 Other receivables, net 164,829 76,462
 Deferred income taxes 59,339 57,666
 Other current assets  37,806  26,285 

  Total current assets 2,134,382 1,325,702

 Long-term investments 1,130,572 1,125,632
 Property and equipment, net 315,105 351,427
 Goodwill 1,620,272 1,612,390
 Other intangible assets, net 388,400 419,352
 Other long-term assets  76,376  60,669 

  Total assets  $ 5,665,107  $ 4,895,172 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
 Medical liabilities $1,121,151 $ 752,774
 Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 460,489 442,785
 Deferred revenue 60,349 64,668
 Current portion of long-term debt  10,000  10,000 

  Total current liabilities 1,651,989 1,270,227

 Long-term debt 750,500 760,500
 Other long-term liabilities  309,616  309,742 

  Total liabilities  2,712,105  2,340,469 

Stockholders’ equity:
 Common stock, $.01 par value; 570,000 authorized  
  187,630 issued and 159,441 outstanding in 2006  
  186,253 issued and 162,717 outstanding in 2005 1,876 1,863
 Treasury stock, at cost; 28,189 in 2006; 23,536 in 2005 (563,909) (299,001)
 Additional paid-in capital 1,571,101 1,468,176
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,519) (3,743)
 Retained earnings  1,947,453  1,387,408 

  Total stockholders’ equity  2,953,002  2,554,703 

  Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 5,665,107  $ 4,895,172 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

  2006 2005 2004

Operating revenues:
 Managed care premiums $ 6,857,301 $ 5,728,162 $ 5,198,599
 Management services  876,455 883,084 113,370

  Total operating revenues  7,733,756 6,611,246 5,311,969

Operating expenses:
 Medical costs 5,439,964 4,550,871 4,185,895
 Selling, general and administrative 1,339,522 1,182,381 611,801
 Depreciation and amortization  113,267 86,176 17,602

  Total operating expenses  6,892,753 5,819,428 4,815,298

Operating earnings 841,003 791,818 496,671

Interest expense 52,446 58,414 14,301
Other income, net  107,791 66,021 44,621

Earnings before income taxes 896,348 799,425 526,991

Provision for income taxes  336,303 297,786 189,874

Net earnings  $ 560,045 $ 501,639 $ 337,117

Net earnings per share:
 Basic earnings per share  $ 3.53 $ 3.18 $ 2.55

 Diluted earnings per share  $ 3.47 $ 3.10 $ 2.48

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
 Basic 158,601 157,965 132,188
 Effect of dilutive options and restricted stock  2,833 3,751 3,696

  Diluted  161,434 161,716 135,884

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
(in thousands)

  
Common 

Stock  

Treasury 
Stock, at 

Cost  

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital  

 Other 
Comprehensive 

Income 
Accumulated 

(Loss)  
Retained 
Earnings  

Total 
Stockholders’ 

Equity 

Balance, December 31, 2003 $ 1,572 $ (204,274) $ 565,210 $ 17,838 $ 548,652 $ 928,998

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 337,117 337,117
Other comprehensive income:
 Holding loss, net (15,424)
 Reclassification adjustment (576)

(16,000)
 Deferred tax effect 6,164 6,164 

Comprehensive income 327,281
Employee stock plans activity 20 10,062 42,907 52,989
Treasury shares acquired    (96,842)         (96,842)

Balance, December 31, 2004 1,592 (291,054) 608,117 8,002 885,769 1,212,426

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 501,639 501,639
Other comprehensive income:
 Holding loss, net (17,413)
 Reclassification adjustment (2,019)

(19,432)
 Deferred tax effect 7,687 7,687 

Comprehensive income 489,894
Issuance of stock related to First Health acquisition 247 783,943 784,190
Employee stock plans activity 24 9,094 76,116 85,234
Treasury shares acquired    (17,041)         (17,041)

Balance, December 31, 2005 1,863 (299,001) 1,468,176 (3,743) 1,387,408 2,554,703

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings 560,045 560,045
Other comprehensive income:
 Holding loss, net (61)
 Reclassification adjustment 429 

368
 Deferred tax effect (144) (144)

Comprehensive income 560,269
Employee stock plans activity 13 4,296 102,925 107,234
Treasury shares acquired    (269,204)         (269,204)

Balance, December 31, 2006  $ 1,876  $ (563,909)  $ 1,571,101  $ (3,519)  $ 1,947,453  $ 2,953,002 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

  2006  2005  2004 

Cash flows from operating activities:
 Net earnings $ 560,045 $ 501,639 $ 337,117
 Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation and amortization 113,267 86,176 17,602
  Amortization of stock compensation 55,197 21,992 15,488
  Deferred income tax (benefit) provision (14,908) 15,094 (2,319)
  Other adjustments 3,011 5,611 15,032
 Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of the purchase of subsidiaries:
  Accounts receivable 21,164 (101) (15,158)
  Other receivables (88,367) 18,450 (1,735)
  Medical liabilities 368,377 50,531 63,285
  Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 63,606 105,101 46,782
  Interest payable 455 13,919 —
  Other changes in assets and liabilities  (15,376) (13,943)  (22,189)

Net cash from operating activities  1,066,471  804,469  453,905 

Cash flows from investing activities:
 Capital expenditures, net (72,573) (71,393) (14,972)
 Proceeds from sales of investments 1,098,111 553,711 330,961
 Proceeds from maturities of investments 577,506 447,422 290,039
 Purchases of investments (1,420,604) (1,273,557) (807,985)
 Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired  (35,392) (877,249)  (6,852)

Net cash from investing activities  147,048  (1,221,066)  (208,809)

Cash flows from financing activities:
 Proceeds from issuance of stock 23,023 24,162 16,184
 Payments for repurchase of stock (269,204) (17,550) (96,975)
 Proceeds from issuance of debt, net — 1,066,495 —
 Excess tax benefit from stock compensation 21,852 — —
 Repayment of long-term debt  (10,000) (682,500)  — 

Net cash from financing activities  (234,329) 390,607  (80,791)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 979,190 (25,990) 164,305
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period  391,646  417,636  253,331 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 1,370,836  $ 391,646  $ 417,636 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
 Cash paid for interest $ 49,745 $ 36,581 $ 13,853
 Income taxes paid, net $ 290,763 $ 221,727 $ 150,311

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Coventry Health Care, Inc. and Subsidiaries Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

A. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Coventry Health Care, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company” or “Coventry”) is a national managed health care company based in 
Bethesda, Maryland operating health plans, insurance companies, network rental/managed care services companies, and workers’ compensation 
services companies. The Company provides a full range of risk and fee-based managed care products and services, including HMO, PPO, POS, 
Medicare Advantage, Medicare Prescription Drug Plans, Medicaid, Workers’ Compensation and Network Rental to a broad cross section of indi-
viduals, employer and government-funded groups, government agencies, and other insurance carriers and administrators in all 50 states as well as 
the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico. 

Since the Company began operations in 1987 with the acquisition of the American Service Companies entities, including Coventry Health and Life 
Insurance Company (“CH&L”), the Company has grown substantially through acquisitions. See Note B to these consolidated financial statements for 
information on the Company’s most recent acquisitions.

Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation—The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States and include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are 100% owned. All significant inter-company transactions 
have been eliminated. 

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those amounts. 

Reclassifications—Certain 2005 and 2004 amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2006 presentation.

Significant Customers—The Company’s commercial business is diversified across a large customer base and there are no commercial groups that 
make up 10% or more of Coventry’s managed care premiums. The Company received 21.6%, 11.8% and 10.9% of its managed care premiums for the 
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, from the federal Medicare program throughout its various markets. The Company 
also received 11.1%, 13.2% and 11.7% of its managed care premiums for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, from its 
state-sponsored Medicaid programs throughout its various markets. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the State of Missouri 
accounted for almost half the Company’s Medicaid premiums. The Company received 19.3% and 22.1% of its management services revenue from a 
single customer, Mail Handlers Benefit Plan, for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The Company’s contract with the Mail 
Handlers Benefit Plan is up for renewal on December 31, 2007. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents consist principally of money market funds, commercial paper and certificates of deposit. 
The Company considers all highly liquid securities purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The carrying 
amounts of cash and cash equivalents reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets approximate fair value. 

Investments—The Company accounts for investments in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115—
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” and in accordance with FASB Staff Position Number FAS 115-1, “The Meaning of 
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments.” The Company invests primarily in fixed income securities and classifies 
all of its investments as available-for-sale. Investments are evaluated on an individual security basis at least quarterly to determine if declines in value 
are other-than-temporary. In making that determination, the Company considers all available evidence relating to the realizable value of a security. 
This evidence is reviewed at the individual security level and includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

•  adverse financial conditions of a specific issuer, segment, industry, region or other variables; 
•  the length of the time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost; 
•  the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer; 
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•  the Company’s intent and ability to retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value; 
•   elimination or reduction in dividend payments, or scheduled interest and principal; 
•  rating agency downgrade of a debt security; and 
•  expected cash flows of a debt security. 

Temporary declines in value of investments classified as available-for-sale are netted with unrealized gains and reported as a net amount in a separate 
component of stockholders’ equity. A decline in fair value below amortized cost that is judged to be other-than-temporary is accounted for as a realized 
loss and the write down is included in earnings. Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined on a specific identification basis. 

Investments with original maturities in excess of three months and less than one year are classified as short-term investments and generally consist 
of corporate bonds, U.S. Treasury notes and commercial paper. Long-term investments have original maturities in excess of one year and primarily 
consist of fixed income securities. 

Other Receivables—Other receivables include interest receivables, pharmacy rebate receivables, Office of Personnel Management (“OPM”) 
receivables, receivables from providers and suppliers and any other receivables that do not relate to premiums. 

Property and Equipment—Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. In accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 
98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use, the cost of internally developed software is capitalized 
and included in property and equipment. We capitalize costs incurred during the application development stage for the development of internal-use 
software. These costs primarily relate to payroll and payroll-related costs for employees along with costs incurred for external consultants who are 
directly associated with the internal-use software project. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated lives of the 
related assets or, if shorter, over the terms of the respective leases. 

Long-term Assets—Long-term assets primarily include assets associated with the 401(k) Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plan, senior note 
issuance costs and reinsurance recoveries. The reinsurance recoveries were obtained with the acquisition of First Health Group Corp. (“First Health”) 
and are related to certain life insurance receivables from a third party insurer for liabilities that have been ceded to that third party insurer.

Business Combinations, Accounting for Goodwill and Other Intangibles—The Company accounts for business combinations, goodwill and 
other intangibles in accordance with SFAS No. 141—“Business Combinations,” SFAS No. 142—“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and SFAS 
No. 144—“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Acquired intangible assets are separately recognized upon meeting 
certain criteria. Such intangible assets include, but are not limited to, trade and service marks, non-compete agreements, customer lists and licenses. 
An intangible asset that is subject to amortization shall be tested for recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Goodwill and other intangible assets that have indefinite lives are subject to a periodic assessment for 
impairment by applying a fair-value-based test. The Company considers multiple approaches to identifying the fair value of its goodwill and other 
intangible assets. Those approaches include the market approach, the market capitalization approach, the income approach and the cost approach. 
The market approach estimates a business’s fair value by analyzing the recent sales of similar companies. The market capitalization approach is 
based on market value of the Company’s total shares outstanding. The income approach is based on the present value of expected future cash 
flows. The cost approach is based on the cost to reconstruct or replace an asset with another of like utility. As impairment charges occur, write-down 
charges will be recorded in the period in which the impairment took place. See Note C to consolidated financial statements for disclosure related 
to intangible assets. 

Medical Liabilities and Expense—Medical liabilities consist of actual claims reported but not paid and estimates of health care services incurred 
but not reported. The estimated claims incurred but not reported are based on historical data, current enrollment, health service utilization statistics 
and other related information. In determining medical liabilities, the Company employs standard actuarial reserve methods that are specific to each 
market’s membership, product characteristics, geographic territories and provider network. The Company also considers utilization frequency and 
unit costs of inpatient, outpatient, pharmacy and other medical expenses, as well as claim payment backlogs and the timing of provider reimburse-
ments. The Company also establishes reserves, if required, for the probability that anticipated future health care costs and contract maintenance 
costs under the group of existing contracts will exceed anticipated future premiums and reinsurance recoveries on those contracts. These accruals 
are continually monitored and reviewed, and as settlements are made or accruals adjusted, differences are reflected in current operations. Changes 
in assumptions for medical costs caused by changes in actual experience could cause these estimates to change in the near term. 
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The following table shows the components of the change in medical liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively: 

  2006  2005  2004 

Medical liabilities, beginning of period $ 752,774 $ 660,475 $ 597,190
Acquisitions(1) — 41,895 —
Reported Medical Costs
 Current year 5,570,872 4,672,009 4,257,942
 Prior year developments  (130,908)  (121,138)  (72,047)

Total reported medical costs 5,439,964 4,550,871 4,185,895

Claim Payments
 Payments for current year 4,852,359 4,030,685 3,691,092
 Payments for prior year  542,571  469,782  431,518 

Total claim payments 5,394,930 4,500,467 4,122,610
Part D Related Subsidy Liabilities  323,343  —  — 

Medical liabilities, end of period  $ 1,121,151  $ 752,774  $ 660,475 

Supplemental Information:
 Prior year development(2) 2.9% 2.9% 2.0%
 Current year paid percent(3) 87.1% 86.3% 86.7%

(1)Acquisition balances represent medical liabilities of the acquired company as of the applicable acquisition date.
(2)Prior year reported medical costs in the current year as a percentage of prior year reported medical costs.
(3)Current year claim payments as a percentage of current year reported medical costs.

The negative amounts noted as “prior year” medical costs are favorable adjustments for claim estimates being settled for amounts less than originally 
anticipated. As noted above, these favorable changes from original estimates occur due to changes in medical utilization, mix of provider rates and 
other components of medical cost trends. 

The Medicare Part D related subsidy liabilities identified in the table above represent subsidy amounts received from the Centers for Medicare and 
Medicaid Services (“CMS”) for reinsurance and for cost sharing related to low income individuals. These subsidies are recorded in medical liabilities 
and we do not recognize premium revenue or claims expense for these subsidies. Following the final settlement in 2007 related to the 2006 plan 
year, any remaining balances from these subsidy payments will be refunded to CMS.

Other Long-term Liabilities—Other long-term liabilities consist primarily of liabilities associated with the 401(k) Restoration and Deferred 
Compensation Plan and the deferred tax liabilities associated with both intangible assets and a limited partnership investment. 

Comprehensive Income—Comprehensive income includes net income and the unrealized net gains and losses on investment securities. Other 
comprehensive income is net of reclassification adjustments to adjust for items currently included in net income, such as realized gains and losses 
on investment securities. The deferred tax benefit for unrealized holding losses arising from investment securities during the years ended December 
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $0.02 million, $6.9 million and $6.0 million, respectively. The deferred tax benefit for reclassification adjustments for 
loss included in net income on investment securities during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $0.2 million. The deferred tax provision for 
reclassification adjustments for gains included in net income on investment securities during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 was 
$0.8 million and $0.2 million, respectively.

Revenue Recognition—Managed care premiums are recorded as revenue in the month in which members are entitled to service. Premiums are 
based on a per subscriber contract rate and the subscribers in the Company’s records at the time of billing. Premium billings are generally sent to 
employers in the month proceeding the month of coverage. Premium billings may be subsequently adjusted to reflect changes in membership as a 
result of retroactive terminations, additions, or other changes. The Company also receives premium payments from (“CMS”) on a monthly basis for its 
Medicare membership. Membership and category eligibility are periodically reconciled with CMS and such reconciliations could result in adjustments 
to revenue. The Company also receives premium payments on a monthly basis from the state Medicaid programs with which we contract for the 
Medicaid members for whom we provide health coverage. Membership and category eligibility are periodically reconciled with the state Medicaid 
programs and such reconciliations could result in adjustments to revenue. Premiums collected in advance are recorded as deferred revenue. 
Employer contracts are typically on an annual basis, subject to cancellation by the employer group or by the Company upon 30 days notice.
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The Medicare Part D program, which gives beneficiaries access to prescription drug coverage, took effect January 1, 2006. Coventry has been 
awarded contracts by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) to offer various Medicare Part D plans on a nationwide basis, in 
accordance with guidelines put forth by the agency. Payments from CMS under these contracts include amounts for premiums, amounts for risk 
corridor adjustments and amounts for reinsurance and low-income cost subsidies. 

The Company recognizes premium revenue ratably over the contract period for providing insurance coverage. Regarding the CMS risk corridor provision, 
an estimated risk sharing receivable or payable is recognized based on activity-to-date. Activity for CMS risk sharing is accumulated at the contract level 
and recorded within the consolidated balance sheet in other receivables or other accrued liabilities depending on the net contract balance at the end 
of the reporting period with corresponding adjustments to premium revenue. Costs for covered prescription drugs are expensed as incurred.

Subsidy amounts received for reinsurance and for cost sharing related to low income individuals are recorded in medical liabilities and will offset 
medical costs when paid. We do not recognize premium revenue or claims expense for these subsidies as the Company does not incur any risk with 
this part of the program.

A reconciliation of the final risk sharing, low-income subsidy, and reinsurance subsidy amounts is performed following the end of the contract year. 
As of December 31, 2006, the CMS risk sharing payable was $32.6 million and is included in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities and the 
CMS risk sharing receivable was $3.8 million and is included in other receivables. As of December 31, 2006, the subsidy amounts payable totaled 
$323.3 million and is included in medical liabilities.

The Company has quota share arrangements with two of its Medicare Part D distribution partners. As a result of the quota share sharing arrange-
ments, the Company ceded Medicare Part D premium and medical costs to these partners. The ceded amounts are excluded from the Company’s 
results of operations.

Management services revenue is generally a fixed administrative fee, provided on a predetermined contractual basis or on a percentage-of-savings 
basis, for access to our health care provider networks and health care management services, for which we do not assume underwriting risk. 
Percentage of savings revenue is determined using the difference between charges billed by contracted medical providers and the contracted reim-
bursement rates for the services billed and is recognized based on claims processed. The management services we provide typically include health 
care provider network management, clinical management, pharmacy benefit management (“PBM”), bill review, claims repricing, fiscal agent services 
(generally for state entitlement programs), claims processing, utilization review and quality assurance. 

The Company enters into performance guarantees with employer groups where it pledges to meet certain standards. These standards vary widely 
and could involve customer service, member satisfaction, claims processing, claims accuracy, telephone on-hold time, etc. The Company also enters 
into financial guarantees which can take various forms including, among others, achieving an annual aggregate savings threshold, achieving a 
targeted level of savings per-member, per-month or achieving overall network penetration in defined demographic markets. For each guarantee, the 
Company estimates and records performance based revenue after considering the relevant contractual terms and the data available for the per-
formance based revenue calculation. Pro rata performance based revenue is recognized on an interim basis pursuant to the rights and obligations of 
each party upon termination of the contracts. 

Revenue for pharmacy benefit management services in both the Group Health and Medicaid/Public sectors is derived on a pre-negotiated contractual 
amount per claim. Revenue is recorded when a pharmacy transaction is processed by the Company. The Company does not record any revenue or 
expense related to the sale of pharmaceuticals. In the Group Health business, revenue associated with pharmacy rebates is recorded based on the 
contractual rebates received from the formulary less the pre-negotiated rebates paid to clients. No rebate revenue is collected or recorded related 
to the Company’s Medicaid/Public business.

Based on information received subsequent to premium billings being sent, historical trends, bad debt write-offs and the collectibility of specific accounts, 
the Company estimates, on a monthly basis, the amount of bad debt and future retroactivity and adjusts its revenue and reserves accordingly. 

Premiums for services to federal employee groups are subject to audit and review by the OPM on a periodic basis. Such audits are usually a number 
of years in arrears. Adjustments are recorded as additional information regarding the audits and reviews becomes available. Any differences 
between actual results and estimates are recorded in the period the audits are finalized. 
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Contract Acquisition Costs—Costs related to the acquisition of customer contracts, such as commissions paid to outside brokers, are paid on a 
monthly basis and expensed as incurred. Regarding the Company’s new Medicare Private Fee for Service business, we advance funded commissions 
and have deferred amortization of these costs until 2007, when this new business begins.

Income Taxes—The Company files a consolidated federal tax return for the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company accounts for income taxes 
in accordance with SFAS No. 109—“Accounting for Income Taxes.” The deferred tax assets and/or liabilities are determined by multiplying the dif-
ferences between the financial reporting and tax reporting bases for assets and liabilities by the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when 
such differences are recovered or settled. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes 
the enactment date. See Note G to consolidated financial statements for disclosures related to income taxes. 

Earnings Per Share—Basic earnings per share based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted 
earnings per share assume the exercise of all options and the vesting of all restricted stock using the treasury stock method. Potential common 
stock equivalents to purchase 0.7 million, 0.2 million and 1.1 million shares for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, 
were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share because the potential common stock equivalents were anti-dilutive.

Other Income—Other income includes interest income, net of fees, of approximately $101.5 million, $59.8 million, and $44.1 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued “Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109,” which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in incomes taxes recognized in the financial 
statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial position 
already taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For a tax benefit to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained 
upon examination by applicable taxing authorities. The benefit recognized is the amount that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized 
upon final settlement of the tax position. FIN 48 was effective for the Company as of January 1, 2007. The change in net assets as a result of apply-
ing this pronouncement will be a change in accounting principle with the cumulative effect of the change required to be treated as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of retained earnings. The Company’s evaluation of the impact of adoption of FIN 48 is ongoing, and it is anticipated that the 
adoption of FIN 48 will not have a material impact on the Company’s January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings.

B. Acquisitions 

During the three years ended December 31, 2006, the Company completed two business combinations and one membership purchase. The Company’s 
business combinations are all accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of each acquisition 
have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since their effective date of acquisition. The purchase price for each business 
combination was allocated to the assets, including the identifiable intangible assets, and liabilities based on estimated fair values. The excess of 
the purchase price over the net identifiable assets acquired was allocated to goodwill. The purchase price of the Company’s membership purchases 
is allocated to identifiable intangible assets and is being amortized over a useful life of ten to twenty years. 

The following table summarizes all business combinations and membership purchases for the three years ended December 31, 2006. The purchase 
price of each business combination includes the payment for net worth and estimated transition costs. The purchase price, inclusive of all retroactive 
balance sheet settlements to date and transition cost adjustments, is presented below (millions): 

  Effective Date  Market  
Purchase 

Price

Business Combinations
First Health Group Corp. (“First Health”) January 28, 2005 Multiple Markets $ 1,695 
Provider Synergies, L.L.C. (“Provider Synergies”) January 1, 2006 Multiple Markets $ 22 

Membership Purchase
OmniCare Health Plan (“OmniCare”) October 1, 2004 Michigan $ 13 
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Effective January 28, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of First Health. First Health is a full service national health benefits services 
company that serves the group health, workers’ compensation and state public program markets. The Company believes the combination of Coventry 
and First Health creates a leading health benefits company with the size, scale and product breadth to be a market leader with significant growth 
opportunities. The Company paid a premium (i.e., goodwill) over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired for a 
number of reasons, including but not limited to:

• significantly expands the Company’s geographic presence;
• diversifies the Company’s product offerings and client base; and
• significantly increases the Company’s fee-based, non-regulated cash flows.

Each outstanding share of First Health common stock was converted into a right to receive $9.375 cash and 0.2687 shares of Coventry common 
stock. As a result of the merger, the Company paid $863.1 million in cash and issued approximately 24.7 million shares of its common stock to stock-
holders of First Health. A value of $784.2 million was assigned to the shares issued based on the average closing price of Coventry common stock 
for the two days before, the day of and the two days after the acquisition announcement date of October 14, 2004.

The total purchase price, including estimated transition costs, for First Health of $1.7 billion was allocated to the assets, including identifiable intangible 
assets and liabilities based on estimated fair values. The estimated transition costs of $46.4 million include estimated costs for involuntary 
employee termination of $25.6 million, of which $24.8 million has been paid, estimated costs for exiting certain leased building space of $10.0 million, 
of which $5.6 million has been paid, and other transition cost accruals of which all has been paid. Deferred tax liabilities associated with the acquisition 
were $168.4 million. The following table lists the assigned value of the intangible assets as of the acquisition date (in millions) and the associated 
amortization period:

  
Estimated 
Fair Value 

Amortization 
Period (Yrs)

Goodwill $ 1,323.3
Unamortized tradename 85.8
Customer lists 272.5 10
Provider network 52.5 20
Amortized tradename  1.2 4

 Total intangible assets  $ 1,735.3  

The Company has allocated the excess purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired of approximately $1.3 billion to goodwill. The 
acquired goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes. The intangible assets acquired, which are subject to amortization, consist of customer 
lists, tradenames, and a provider network and have a weighted-average useful life of approximately 10.8 years. The following table lists the 
Company’s estimate of the fair value of the tangible assets and liabilities as of the acquisition date (in millions):

Cash, cash equivalents, investments $ 170.8
Property, equipment, capitalized software, other assets 493.7
Medical costs payable (41.8)
Other current liabilities (148.9)
Long-term debt (200.0)
Other long-term liabilities  (145.5)

 Net tangible assets acquired  $ 128.3 
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The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of First Health have been included 
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since January 28, 2005, the date of acquisition. The following unaudited pro forma condensed 
consolidated results of operations assumes the First Health acquisition occurred on January 1, 2005 and 2004 (in millions, except per share data):

Year ended December 31, 

(Pro forma unaudited)  2005 2004

Operating revenues $ 6,674.6 $ 6,192.7
Net earnings $ 507.9 $ 428.5
Earnings per share, basic $ 3.18 $ 2.73
Earnings per share, diluted $ 3.11 $ 2.67

The pro forma amounts represent historical operating results of the Company and First Health and include the pro forma effect of Coventry shares 
issued in the acquisition, the amortization of finite lived intangible assets arising from the purchase price allocation, interest expense related to 
financing the acquisition and the associated income tax effects of the pro forma adjustments. The 2004 pro forma amounts assume that debt pay 
down and debt cost write-offs related to debt refinancing would have occurred at the same period in 2004 as they occurred in 2005. The pro forma 
amounts exclude material, nonrecurring items including the expense related to the purchase of outstanding options of $27.2 million net of tax. The 
pro forma amounts are presented for comparison purposes and are not necessarily indicative of the operating results that would have occurred if the 
acquisition had been completed at the beginning of the periods presented nor are they necessarily indicative of operating results in future periods.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of Provider Synergies, L.L.C. (“Provider Synergies”), an Ohio limited liability 
company. Provider Synergies manages preferred drug lists and negotiates rebates on behalf of state government and commercial clients. The acqui-
sition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the operating results of Provider Synergies have been included 
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. The pro forma effects of this acquisition were not material to the 
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

C. Goodwill And Other Intangible Assets 

Goodwill and other intangible assets consist of costs in excess of the fair value of the net tangible assets of subsidiaries or operations acquired 
through December 31, 2006. 

Goodwill 
The Company completed its impairment test of goodwill and has determined that there was no impairment of goodwill as of October 1, 2006, the 
Company’s annual impairment test date. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as 
follows (in thousands): 

  Health Plans  First Health  Total 

Balance, December 31, 2004 $ 280,615 $ — $ 280,615
 Acquisition of First Health — 1,331,941 1,331,941
 Impairment loss — — —
 Other adjustments  (166)  —  (166)

Balance, December 31, 2005 280,449 1,331,941 1,612,390
 Acquisition of Provider Synergies — 16,736 16,736
 Impairment loss — — —
 Other adjustments  (195)  (8,659)  (8,854)

Balance, December 31, 2006  $ 280,254  $ 1,340,018  $ 1,620,272 
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Other Intangible Assets 
The other intangible asset balances are as follows (in thousands): 

  

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

Net 
Carrying 
Amount 

Amortization 
Period

As of December 31, 2006
Amortized other intangible assets:
Customer Lists $ 313,496 $ 66,094 $ 247,402 3–15 Years
HMO Licenses 12,600 5,291 $ 7,309 15–20 Years
Provider Network 52,500 5,031 $ 47,469 20 Years
Trade Name  1,200 880 $ 320 3 Years

 Total amortized other intangible assets  $ 379,796 $ 77,296 $ 302,500  

Unamortized other intangible assets:
Trade Names  $ 85,900 $ — $ 85,900 —

 Total unamortized other intangible assets  $ 85,900 $ — $ 85,900  

  Total other intangible assets  $ 465,696 $ 77,296 $ 388,400  

As of December 31, 2005
Amortized other intangible assets:
Customer Lists $ 309,080 $ 34,598 $ 274,482 10–15 Years
HMO Licenses 12,600 4,649 $ 7,951 15–20 Years
Provider Network 52,500 2,406 $ 50,094 20 Years
Trade Name  1,200 275 $ 925 4 Years

 Total amortized other intangible assets  $ 375,380 $ 41,928 $ 333,452  

Unamortized other intangible assets:
Trade Names  $ 85,900 $ — $ 85,900 —

 Total unamortized other intangible assets  $ 85,900 $ — $ 85,900  

  Total other intangible assets  $ 461,280 $ 41,928 $ 419,352  

Other intangible amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $35.4 million, $31.1 million and $2.7 million, 
respectively. The increase in other intangible assets and the related amortization is a result of the other intangible assets obtained with the acquisition 
of First Health. Estimated intangible amortization expense is $34.3 million for the year ending December 31, 2007, $33.9 million for the year ending 
December 31, 2008, $32.4 million for the year ending December 31, 2009, $32.2 million for the year ending December 31, 2010 and $32.1 million for 
the year ending December 31, 2011. The weighted-average amortization period is approximately 11 years for other intangible assets. 
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D. Property And Equipment 

Property and equipment is comprised of the following (in thousands): 

 December 31, Depreciation
  2006  2005  Period

Land $ 23,864 $ 23,864  —
Buildings and leasehold improvements 123,387 115,691  5–40 Years
Developed software 134,818 131,140  1–9 Years
Equipment  246,830  217,898   3–7 Years

Sub-total 528,899 488,593   
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  (213,794)  (137,166)   

Property and equipment, net  $ 315,105   $ 351,427    

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $77.9 million, $55.1 million and $14.9 million, respectively. 
Included in the depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is $26.9 million, $13.1 million and $0, respectively, of 
expense for developed software. The increase in depreciation expense in 2005 was a result of the property and equipment obtained with the acquisition 
of First Health. 

E. Investments 

The Company considers all of its investments as available-for-sale securities and, accordingly, records unrealized gains and losses, except for those 
determined to be other-than-temporary impairments, as other comprehensive income (loss) in the stockholders’ equity section of its consolidated 
balance sheets. 

The amortized cost, gross unrealized gain or loss and estimated fair value of short-term and long-term investments by security type were as follows 
at December 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands): 

  
Amortized 

Cost  
Unrealized 

Gain  
Unrealized 

Loss 
Fair  

Value

As of December 31, 2006
State and municipal bonds $ 515,399 $ 3,520 $ (3,515) $ 515,404
US Treasury & agency securities 108,928 303 (827) 108,404
Mortgage-backed securities 233,670 687 (3,060) 231,297
Asset-backed securities 64,730 223 (760) 64,193
Corporate debt and other securities  451,727  825  (2,964)  449,588

  $ 1,374,454  $ 5,558  $ (11,126)  $ 1,368,886

Equity investment         54,078

         $ 1,422,964

As of December 31, 2005
State and municipal bonds $ 502,166 $ 3,811 $ (3,585) $ 502,392
US Treasury & agency securities 125,231 271 (1,073) 124,429
Mortgage-backed securities 183,989 384 (2,832) 181,541
Asset-backed securities 78,203 439 (951) 77,691
Corporate debt and other securities  736,342  1,411  (4,233)  733,520

  $ 1,625,931  $ 6,316  $ (12,674)  $ 1,619,573

Equity investment         51,674

         $ 1,671,247
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The amortized cost and estimated fair value of short-term and long-term investments by contractual maturity were as follows at December 31, 2006 
and December 31, 2005 (in thousands): 

  
Amortized 

Cost 
Fair  

Value

As of December 31, 2006
Maturities:
 Within 1 year $ 369,983 $ 369,455
 1 to 5 years 380,325 377,011
 5 to 10 years 262,409 262,573
 Over 10 years  361,737 359,847

Total  $ 1,374,454 1,368,886

 Equity investment    54,078

Total short-term and long-term securities    $ 1,422,964

As of December 31, 2005
Maturities:
 Within 1 year $ 625,864 $ 625,481
 1 to 5 years 405,591 401,310 
 5 to 10 years 256,240 256,752
 Over 10 years  338,236  336,030

Total  $ 1,625,931  $ 1,619,573

 Equity investment    51,674 

Total short-term and long-term securities    $ 1,671,247

Gross investment gains of $0.2 million and gross investment losses of $0.7 million were realized on sales of investments for the year ended 
December 31, 2006. This compares to gross investment gains of $3.0 million and gross investment losses of $1.1 million on these sales for the year 
ended December 31, 2005, and gross investment gains of $2.0 million and gross investment losses of $1.3 million on these sales for the year ended 
December 31, 2004. 

The following table shows the Company’s investments’ gross unrealized losses and fair value, at December 31, 2006, aggregated by investment 
category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position (in thousands). 

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Description of Securities  Fair Value 
Unrealized 

Losses  Fair Value 
Unrealized 

Losses  Fair Value 
Unrealized 

Losses 

State and municipal bonds $ 67,946 $ (275) $ 202,848 $ (3,240) $ 270,794 $ (3,515)

US Treasury & agency securities 25,535 (77) 57,171 (750) 82,706 (827)

Mortgage-backed securities 40,021 (140) 126,151 (2,920) 166,172 (3,060)

Asset-backed securities 12,909 (26) 33,239 (734) 46,148 (760)
Corporate debt and other securities  9,045 (46)  123,032 (2,918)  132,077 (2,964)

Total  $ 155,456 $ (564)  $ 542,441 $ (10,562)  $ 697,897 $ (11,126)

The unrealized loss reflected on each category of the Company’s investments is almost exclusively the result of interest rate increases subsequent 
to the purchase of the investments and not deteriorating credit quality. The Company has the ability and intent to hold those investments until a 
recovery of fair value, which may be maturity. As a result, the Company does not consider those investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired 
at December 31, 2006.
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Through its acquisition of First Health on January 28, 2005, the Company acquired eight separate investments (tranches) in a limited liability company 
that invests in equipment that is leased to third parties. The total investment as of December 31, 2006 was $54.1 million and is accounted for using 
the equity method. The Company’s proportionate share of the partnership’s income since the date of the acquisition was $6.7 and $4.6 million for 
the periods ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and is included in other income. The Company has between a 20% and 25% interest 
in the limited partners share of each individual tranche of the partnership (approximately 10% of the total partnership).

F. Stock-Based Compensation 

Stock-Based Compensation 
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123 (revised 
2004), “Share-Based Payment,” (“SFAS 123R”) which requires that compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions be recognized 
in financial statements. SFAS 123R eliminates the alternative to use the intrinsic method of accounting provided for in Accounting Principles Board 
(APB) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” which generally resulted in no compensation expense recorded in the financial 
statements related to the grant of stock options to employees if certain conditions were met. 

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified prospective method. Under this method, the fair value of awards 
granted after the date of adoption and the unvested portion of previously granted awards outstanding at the date of adoption are included in operating 
expenses over the vesting period during which an employee provides service in exchange for the award. In accordance with the modified prospective 
method, prior period amounts presented herein have not been restated to reflect the adoption of SFAS 123R.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, the Company recorded $30.7 million of compensation expense related to stock options, or $18.8 million after-tax, 
in its statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2006. As required in prior years under APB No. 25, the Company recognized forfei-
tures related to stock awards as they occurred. SFAS 123R requires an entity to estimate expected forfeitures at the grant date. As a result, the 
Company recorded a favorable $0.5 million ($0.3 million after-tax) cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle upon the adoption of SFAS 
123R as it relates to estimated forfeitures. This one time benefit applies to compensation cost recognized in prior periods for awards that are unvested 
on the adoption date and represents an estimate of the number of outstanding instruments upon adoption of SFAS 123R for which the requisite 
service is not expected to be rendered. The net increase of SFAS 123R for stock-based compensation expense reduced both basic and diluted earnings 
per share by $0.11 for year ended December 31, 2006. In accordance with SFAS 123R, the Company estimates forfeitures and is recognizing compen-
sation expense only for those share-based awards that are expected to vest.

In accordance with SFAS 123R, for the period beginning January 1, 2006, excess tax benefits from stock awards are presented as financing cash 
flows. The excess tax benefits totaled $21.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Such benefits were $38.0 million and $21.4 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and are presented as a component of operating cash flows.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had one stock incentive plan, the Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Stock Incentive 
Plan”) under which shares of the Company’s common stock were authorized for issuance to key employees, consultants and directors in the form of 
stock options, restricted stock and other stock-based awards. In May 2006, the Stock Incentive Plan was amended to increase the number of shares 
authorized for issuance by an additional 9.0 million shares. Shares available for issuance under the Stock Incentive Plan were 9.9 million as of 
December 31, 2006.

Stock Options

Under the Stock Incentive Plan, the terms and conditions of option grants are established on an individual basis with the exercise price of the 
options being equal to not less than 100% of the fair value of the underlying stock at the date of grant. Options generally become exercisable after 
one year in 25% increments per year and expire ten years from the date of grant. At December 31, 2006, the Stock Incentive Plan had outstanding 
options representing 11.3 million shares of common stock.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2006:

  
Shares  

(in thousands)  

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value 
(in thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2006 10,511 $ 29.52
Granted 2,650 $ 51.21
Exercised (1,356) $ 16.42
Cancelled and expired  (504)  $ 34.66   

Outstanding at December 31, 2006  11,301  $ 35.56  $167,613

Exercisable at December 31, 2006 4,445 $ 24.42 $114,160

The Company has elected to continue to use the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model and straight-line amortization of compensation expense 
over the requisite service period of the grant. The Company will reconsider use of the Black-Scholes-Merton model if additional information 
becomes available in the future that indicates another model would be more appropriate, or if grants issued in future periods have characteristics 
that cannot be reasonably estimated using this model.

The following weighted-average assumptions were used for option grants:

 2006   2005   2004  

Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.9% 3.8% 3.9%
Expected volatility 33.5% 32.0% 41.2%
Expected life (in years) 4.0 4.2 5.0 

The Company has not paid dividends in the past nor does it expect to pay dividends in the future. As such, the Company used a dividend yield 
percentage of zero. The Company uses a risk-free interest rate consistent with the yield available on a U.S. Treasury note with a term equal to the 
expected term of the underlying grants. The expected volatility was estimated based upon a blend of the implied volatility of the Company’s tradeable 
options and the historical volatility of the Company’s share price. The expected life was estimated based upon exercise experience of option grants 
made in the past to Company employees.

The Black-Scholes-Merton weighted-average value of options granted was $ 17.24, $14.96 and $13.37 per share for the years ended December 31, 
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $52.4 million, $83.8 million and $50.0 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, there was $73.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost (net of 
expected forfeitures) related to nonvested stock option grants which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.6 years.

Information with respect to stock options outstanding and stock options exercisable at December 31, 2006 was as follows:

Options Outstanding (in thousands) Options Exercisable (in thousands)

Range of Exercise Prices  

Number  
Outstanding  

at 12/31/06 

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price 

Number 
Exercisable  

at 12/31/06 

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

$ 2.22–$31.80 2,963 5.1 $14.67 2,314 $12.56
$31.80–$47.14 3,627 7.7 $34.11 1,538 $33.02
$47.14–$48.25 2,307 8.5 $47.90 561 $47.91
$48.25–$59.01  2,404 9.4 $51.67 32 $56.96

$ 2.22–$59.01  11,301 7.5 $35.56 4,445 $24.42
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Restricted Stock Awards 

The value of the restricted shares is amortized over various vesting periods through 2010. The Company recorded compensation expense related to 
restricted stock grants, including restricted stock granted in prior periods, of approximately $25.0 million, $21.9 million and $15.5 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The total unrecognized compensation cost related to the restricted stock was $39.9 
million at December 31, 2006, and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.4 years. The total fair value of shares vested 
during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $36.1 million, $42.7 million and $ 29.4 million, respectively.

The following table summarizes restricted stock award activity for the year ended December 31, 2006:

  
Shares  

(in thousands)  

Weighted-Average 
Grant-Date Fair 

Value Per Share

Nonvested, January 1, 2006 1,769 $38.96

Granted 309 $50.75

Vested (689) $30.17
Forfeited  (111)  $45.69

Nonvested, December 31, 2006  1,278  $40.91

Pro Forma Disclosures

The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings and earnings per common share (“EPS”) as if we had applied the fair value recognition 
provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31, 

  2005  2004 

Net earnings, as reported $ 501,639 $ 337,117
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net earnings, net of tax 13,635 9,603
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair-value-based method  
 for all awards, net of tax  (29,033)  (18,383)

Net earnings, pro forma  $ 486,241  $ 328,337 

EPS, basic—as reported  $ 3.18  $ 2.55 

EPS, basic—pro forma  $ 3.08  $ 2.48 

EPS, diluted—as reported  $ 3.10  $ 2.48 

EPS, diluted—pro forma  $ 3.02  $ 2.42 

G. Income Taxes 

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands): 

Years ended December 31,

  2006  2005  2004 

Current provision:

 Federal $ 314,219 $ 245,304 $ 175,671

 State 36,992 37,388 16,522

Deferred (benefit) provision:

 Federal (13,510) 17,815 (3,908)
 State  (1,398)  (2,721)  1,589 

Income Tax Provision Expense  $ 336,303  $ 297,786  $ 189,874 
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The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate of 35% as a result of the following: 

Years ended December 31,

  2006  2005  2004 

Statutory federal tax rate 35.00% 35.00% 35.00%
Effect of:
 State income taxes, net of federal benefit 2.71% 2.85% 2.48%
 Release of state NOL valuation allowance — — (0.16%)
 Tax exempt investment income (0.60%) (0.59%) (0.76%)
 Remuneration disallowed 0.35% 0.17% 0.49%
 Other  0.06%  (0.18%) (1.02%)

Income tax provision (benefit)  37.52%  37.25%  36.03%

The effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2006 
and 2005 are presented below (in thousands): 

December 31,

  2006  2005 

Deferred tax assets:
 Net operating loss carryforward $ 22,228 $ 21,751
 Deferred compensation 32,791 27,086
 Deferred revenue 3,621 3,901
 Medical liabilities 10,094 6,868
 Accounts receivable 898 6,286
 Other accrued liabilities 35,233 38,400
 Other assets 5,867 3,663
 Unrealized loss on securities  2,048  2,615 

  Gross deferred tax assets 112,780 110,570
  Less valuation allowance  —  — 

 Deferred tax asset  112,780  110,570 

Deferred tax liabilities:
 Other liabilities (339) 11,346
 Depreciation (32,009) (29,117)
 Intangibles (125,084) (132,797)
 Internally developed software (15,520) (22,192)
 Tax benefit of limited partnership investment  (63,707)  (79,361)

  Gross deferred tax liabilities  (236,659)  (252,121)

Net deferred tax liability (1)  $ (123,879)  $ (141,551)

(1)  Includes $59.4 million and $57.7 million classified as current assets at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and $(183.3) million and ($199.3) million classified 
as noncurrent liabilities at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had approximately $75 million of federal and $177 million of state tax net operating loss carryforwards. The 
Federal net operating losses were primarily acquired through various acquisitions. The net operating loss carryforwards can be used to reduce future 
taxable income and expire over varying periods through the year 2026.

There is no valuation allowance for the 2006 and 2005 deferred tax assets as the Company believes that the realization of the deferred tax assets, 
including net operating losses, is more likely than not due to the future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences.

Current income taxes payable of $84.1 million and $46.3 million are included in “other accrued liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheets as of 
December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.
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H. Employee Benefit Plans 

Stock Incentive Plan 
As of December 31, 2006, the Company had one stock incentive plan, the Amended and Restated 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Stock Incentive 
Plan”) under which shares of the Company’s common stock were authorized for issuance to key employees, consultants and directors in the form of 
stock options, restricted stock and other stock-based awards. In May 2006, the Stock Incentive Plan was amended to increase the number of shares 
authorized for issuance by an additional 9.0 million shares. 

The Stock Incentive Plan is authorized to grant either incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted 
stock and other stock-based awards at the discretion of the Compensation and Benefits Committee of the Board of Directors. Shares available for 
issuance under the Stock Incentive Plan were 9.9 million and 3.5 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. For more information 
regarding the Company’s stock-based compensation, please refer to Note F, Stock-Based Compensation.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
Effective January 1, 2006, the Company terminated the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, implemented 
in 1994, allowed substantially all employees who meet length of service requirements to set aside a portion of their salary for the purchase of the 
Company’s common stock. At the end of each plan year, the Company issued the stock to participating employees at an issue price equal to 85% of 
the lower of the stock price at the end of the plan year or the average stock price, as defined in the plan. The Company issued 86,800 and 38,900 
shares in 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Employee Retirement Plans 
As of December 31, 2006, the Company had one defined contribution retirement plan qualifying under the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k): the 
Coventry Health Care, Inc. Retirement Savings Plan (the “Savings Plan”). All employees of Coventry Health Care, Inc. and employees of its subsidiar-
ies can elect to participate in the Savings Plan. T. Rowe Price is the custodial trustee of all Savings Plan assets, participant loans and the Coventry 
Health Care, Inc. common stock in the Savings Plan. 

Under the Savings Plan, participants may defer up to 75% of their eligible compensation, limited by the maximum compensation deferral amount 
permitted by applicable law. The Company makes matching contributions in the Company’s common stock equal to 100% of the participant’s contri-
bution on the first 3% of the participant’s eligible compensation and equal to 50% of the participant’s contribution on the second 3% of the 
participant’s eligible compensation. Participants will vest in the Company’s matching contributions in 50% increments annually on their anniversary 
date over a period of two years of service with the Company. Effective January 1, 2006, the Savings Plan was amended to provide 100% vesting for 
all employer matching contributions made after January 1, 2006. The Savings Plan permits divestiture, whereby employees with three or more years 
of service were eligible to sell the employer match portion of the Coventry common stock in their accounts, during certain times of the year, and 
transfer the proceeds to other Coventry 401(k) funds of their choosing. All costs of the Savings Plan are funded by the Company and participants as 
they are incurred. 

The Company previously had other 401(k) plans that it sponsored. These plans arose from acquisitions of other companies and these plans have 
either since been terminated or merged into the Savings Plan. The cost of the Savings Plan, including the acquired plans, for 2006, 2005 and 2004 
was approximately $18.9 million, $14.5 million, and $6.3 million, respectively. 

401(k) Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plan 
As of December 31, 2006, the Company was the sponsor of a 401(k) Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plan (“RESTORE”), currently known as 
the Coventry Health Care, Inc. 401(k) Restoration and Deferred Compensation Plan. Under the RESTORE, participants may defer up to 15% of their 
base salary and up to 100% of any bonus awarded. Effective January 1, 2006, the RESTORE was amended to enable participants to defer up to 75% 
of their base salary. The Company makes matching contributions equal to 100% of the participant’s contribution on the first 3% of the participant’s 
compensation and 50% of the participant’s contribution on the second 3% of the participant’s compensation. Participants vest in the Company’s 
matching contributions ratably over two years. All costs of the RESTORE are funded by the Company as they are incurred. 

The cost, principally employer matching contributions, of the RESTORE charged to operations for 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $1.2 million, $1.1 million 
and $1.0 million, respectively. 
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Executive Retention Plans 
As of December 31, 2005, the Company was the sponsor of two deferred compensation plans that were designed to promote the retention of key 
senior management and to recognize their strategic importance to the Company. During 2006, these plans were settled and paid out in cash and a 
new plan was created with similar design features. The fixed dollar and stock equivalent allocations charged to operations for these plans were $5.0 
million, $15.6 million, and $11.6 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and the liability for these plans was $1.2 million and $37.0 million at 
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

I. Debt

The Company’s outstanding debt was as follows at December 31, 2006 and 2005 (in thousands):

December 31,

  2006 2005

8.125% Senior notes due 2/15/12 $ 170,500 $ 170,500
5.875% Senior notes due 1/15/12 250,000 250,000
6.125% Senior notes due 1/15/15 250,000 250,000
5-year Term loan  90,000 100,000

Total Debt  $ 760,500 $ 770,500

On February 1, 2002, the Company completed a transaction to sell $175.0 million original 8.125% senior notes due February 15, 2012 in a private 
placement. These senior notes were then registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Interest on the notes is payable on February 15 
and August 15 each year. In August 2003, the Company repurchased a portion of its senior notes with a face value of $4.5 million and a weighted 
average premium of 8.9%. The carrying value of the senior notes is equal to the face value and the fair value is based on the quoted market prices. 
As of December 31, 2006, the fair value of the 8.125% senior notes was $176.5 million. See Note Q for subsequent event information related to 
these senior notes.

On January 28, 2005, the Company completed the private placement of $250 million aggregate principal amount of 5 7/8% senior notes due 2012 
and $250 million aggregate principal amount of 6 1/8% senior notes due 2015. These senior notes have since been exchanged and are now registered 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The senior notes are general unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equal in right of payment 
to all of the Company’s existing and future senior debt, including its 8 1/8% senior notes due 2012 and its new credit facilities as described below. As 
of December 31, 2006, the fair value of the 5 7/8% senior notes and the 6 1/8% senior notes was $245.6 million and $247.2 million, respectively. 

On January 28, 2005, the Company also entered into senior, unsecured credit facilities consisting of a $300 million five-year term loan and a $150 million 
five-year revolving credit facility, of which $65 million was drawn at closing. The proceeds from the sale of the senior notes and the credit facilities 
were used to finance the acquisition of all of First Health’s outstanding common stock, refinance the existing indebtedness of First Health and pay 
related transaction fees and expenses. During the six months ended June 30, 2005, the Company made non-scheduled payments of $140.0 million 
and a scheduled repayment of $7.5 million on the credit facilities leaving a balance of $217.5 million.

On June 30, 2005, the Company entered into new credit facilities providing for a five-year revolving credit facility in the principal amount of $350 million, 
of which $117.5 million was drawn at closing, and a five-year term loan in the principal amount of $100 million. The new term loan facility requires regu-
larly scheduled annual payments of principal in the amount of $10 million per year. The first payment under this agreement was made during the quarter 
ended June 30, 2006. Unless terminated earlier, the revolving credit facility will mature five years after closing and is payable in full upon its maturity 
on the termination date. The Company used the net proceeds of the borrowings under the new credit facilities to pay down and terminate its original 
term loan and revolving credit facility. On July 29, 2005, the Company paid off the outstanding balance of $117.5 million on its revolving credit facility.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2005, as a result of the refinancing, the Company wrote off $5.4 million of deferred financing costs related to the 
original credit facilities. 

Loans under the new credit facilities bear interest at a margin or spread in excess of either (1) the one-, two-, three-, six-, nine-, or twelve-month rate 
for Eurodollar deposits (the “Eurodollar Rate”) or (2) the greater of the federal funds rate plus 0.5% or the base rate of the Administrative Agent 
(“Base Rate”), as selected by the Company. The margin or spread depends on the Company’s non-credit-enhanced long-term senior unsecured debt 
ratings and varies from 0.450% to 1.750% for Eurodollar Rate advances and from 0.000% to 0.500% for Base Rate advances. 
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The Company’s senior notes and credit facilities require compliance with specified financial ratios and contain certain covenants and restrictions 
regarding incurring additional debt, limiting dividends or other restricted payments, restricting transactions with affiliates, disposing of assets and 
consolidations or mergers. The Company has complied with all ratios and covenants under the senior notes and credit facilities.

As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate maturities of debt based on their contractual terms, are as follows (in thousands): 

2007 $ 10,000
2008 10,000
2009 10,000
2010 60,000
2011 —
Thereafter  670,500

Total  $760,500

J. Commitments and Contingencies 

As of December 31, 2006, the Company is contractually obligated to make the following minimum lease payments within the next five years and 
thereafter (in thousands): 

  Lease Payments Sublease Income  Net Lease Payments

2007 $ 26,993 $(1,716)  $ 25,277
2008 25,842 (1,480)  24,362
2009 21,691 (1,351)  20,340
2010 16,532 (1,073)  15,459
2011 14,047 (1,073)  12,974
Thereafter  20,302 (1,436)  18,866

Total  $ 125,407 $(8,129)  $ 117,278

The Company operates in leased facilities with original lease terms of up to thirteen years with options for renewal. Total rent expense was $30.3 
million, $30.2 million and $19.0 million, for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Legal Proceedings 
In the normal course of business, the Company has been named as a defendant in various legal actions such as actions seeking payments for claims 
denied by the Company, medical malpractice actions, employment related claims and other various claims seeking monetary damages. The claims 
are in various stages of proceedings and some may ultimately be brought to trial. Incidents occurring through December 31, 2006 may result in the 
assertion of additional claims. The Company maintains general liability, professional liability and employment practices liability insurances in 
amounts that it believes are appropriate, with varying deductibles for which it maintains reserves. The professional liability and employment 
practices liability insurances are carried through its captive subsidiary. Although the results of pending litigation are always uncertain, we do not 
believe the results of such actions currently threatened or pending, including those described below, will individually or in the aggregate, have a 
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

The Company is a defendant in the provider track of the In Re: Managed Care Litigation filed in the United States District Court for the Southern 
District of Florida, Miami Division, Multi-District Litigation (“MDL”), No. 1334, in the action captioned, Charles B. Shane., et al., vs. Humana, Inc., et al. 
This lawsuit was filed by a group of physicians as a class action against Coventry and nine other companies in the managed care industry. The 
plaintiffs alleged violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICO”), conspiracy to violate RICO and aiding and abetting a 
scheme to violate RICO. In addition to these federal law claims, the complaint included state law claims for breach of contract, violations of various 
state prompt payment laws and equitable claims for unjust enrichment and quantum meruit. The trial court dismissed several of the state law claims 
and ordered all physicians who had an arbitration provision in their provider contracts to submit their direct RICO claims and their remaining state law 
claims to arbitration. As a consequence of this ruling, the plaintiffs who had arbitration provisions voluntarily dismissed their claims that were subject 
to arbitration. In its order, the trial court also held that the plaintiffs’ claims of (1) conspiracy to violate RICO and (2) aiding and abetting violations of 
RICO were not subject to arbitration. The trial court then certified various subclasses of plaintiffs with respect to these two federal law claims. 
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Seven defendants have entered into settlement agreements with the plaintiffs, which have received final approval from the trial court. On June 16, 
2006, the trial court filed an order in the Shane lawsuit which granted summary judgment on all claims in favor of the Company. The trial court also 
granted summary judgment on all claims in favor of two other defendants. The plaintiffs have appealed the trial court’s summary judgment order to 
the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. The Shane lawsuit has triggered the filing of copycat class action complaints by other health care providers 
such as chiropractors, podiatrists, acupuncturists and other licensed health care professionals. Each of these actions has been transferred to the 
MDL and have been designated as “tag-along” actions. The court has entered an order which stays all proceedings in the tag-along actions until all 
pre-trial proceedings in the Shane action have been concluded. Although the Company can not predict the outcome, management believes that the 
Shane and the tag-along actions will not have a material adverse effect on its financial position or its results of operations. Management also 
believes that the claims asserted in these lawsuits are without merit and the Company intends to defend its position. 

Capitation Arrangements 
A small percentage of the Company’s membership is covered by global capitation arrangements. Under the typical arrangement, the provider receives 
a fixed percentage of premium to cover all the medical costs provided to the globally capitated members. Under some capitated arrangements, physi-
cians may also receive additional compensation from risk sharing and other incentive arrangements. Global capitation arrangements limit the 
Company’s exposure to the risk of increasing medical costs, but expose the Company to risk as to the adequacy of the financial and medical care 
resources of the provider organization. In addition to global capitation arrangements, the Company has capitation arrangements for ancillary ser-
vices, such as mental health care. The Company is ultimately responsible for the coverage of its members pursuant to the customer agreements. To 
the extent that the respective provider organization faces financial difficulties or otherwise is unable to perform its obligations under the capitation 
arrangements, the Company will be required to perform such obligations. Consequently, the Company may have to incur costs in excess of the amounts 
it would otherwise have to pay under the original global or ancillary capitation arrangements. Medical costs associated with capitation arrangements 
made up approximately 6.1%, 6.5%, and 7.1% of the Company’s total medical costs for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively. Membership associated with global capitation arrangements was approximately 110,000, 116,000 and 127,000 as of December 31, 2006, 
2005 and 2004, respectively. 

K. Concentrations of Credit Risk 

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, investments in fixed income securities and 
accounts receivable. The Company invests its excess cash in state and municipal bonds, U.S. Treasury and agency securities, mortgage-backed 
securities, asset-backed securities, corporate debt and other securities. Investments in marketable securities are managed within guidelines estab-
lished by the Board of Directors, which only allow for the purchase of investment-grade fixed income securities and limit the amount that may be 
invested in any one issuer. The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments is equivalent to their carrying value and, although there is some 
credit risk associated with these instruments, the Company believes this risk to be minimal. 

Concentration of credit risk with respect to receivables is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the Company’s customer base 
and their breakdown among geographical locations. The Company believes the allowance for doubtful accounts adequately provides for estimated 
losses as of December 31, 2006. The Company has a risk of incurring losses if such allowances are not adequate. 

L. Statutory Information 

The Company’s HMO and insurance company subsidiaries are required by state regulatory agencies to maintain minimum surplus balances, thereby 
limiting the dividends the parent may receive from its regulated entities. During 2006, the Company received $297 million in dividends from its 
regulated subsidiaries. 

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) has proposed that states adopt risk-based capital (“RBC”) standards that, if adopted, 
would generally require higher minimum capitalization requirements for HMOs and other risk-bearing health care entities. RBC is a method of measuring 
the minimum amount of capital appropriate for a managed care organization to support its overall business operations in consideration of its size and 
risk profile. The managed care organization’s RBC is calculated by applying factors to various assets, premiums and reserve items. The factor is higher 
for those items with greater underlying risk and lower for less risky items. The adequacy of a managed care organization’s actual capital can then be 
measured by a comparison to its RBC as determined by the formula. The Company’s health plans are required to submit an RBC report to the NAIC 
and their domiciled state’s department of insurance with their annual filing. 
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Regulators will use the RBC results to determine if any regulatory actions are required. Regulatory actions that could take place, if any, range from 
filing a financial action plan explaining how the plan will increase its statutory net worth to the approved levels, to the health plan being placed 
under regulatory control. 

The majority of states in which we operate health plans have adopted a risk-based capital (“RBC”) policy that recommends the health plans maintain 
statutory reserves at or above the ‘Company Action Level’ which is currently equal to 200% of their RBC. We have adopted an internal policy to 
maintain all of our regulated subsidiaries’ statutory capital and surplus at or above 250% of their RBC and a level of 300% in aggregate (referred 
to below as “300% of RBC”). Some states in which our regulated subsidiaries operate require deposits to be maintained with the respective states’ 
departments of insurance. The table below summarizes the Company’s statutory reserve information as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 (in millions, 
except percentage data). 

  2006  2005 

Regulated capital and surplus $ 1,070.6(a) $ 897.4
300% of RBC $ 666.5(a) $ 555.3(a)

Excess capital and surplus above 300% of RBC $ 404.1(a) $ 342.1(a)

Capital and surplus as percentage of RBC 481%(a) 485%(a)

Statutory deposits $ 56.4 $ 49.4

(a)unaudited

The increase in capital and surplus for our regulated subsidiaries is a result of net earnings partially offset by dividends paid to the parent company.

Excluding funds held by entities subject to regulation and excluding our investment in an equipment leasing limited liability company, we had cash 
and investments of approximately $563.1 million and $347.2 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The increase was primarily due to 
the dividends received from our regulated subsidiaries and earnings from our non-regulated First Health business offset, in part, by the share repur-
chases discussed previously.

M. Other Income 

Other income for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 includes interest income, net of fees, of approximately $101.5 million, $59.8 
million and $44.1 million, respectively. 

N. Share Repurchase Program 

The Company’s Board of Directors has approved a program to repurchase its outstanding common stock. Stock repurchases may be made from time 
to time at prevailing prices on the open market, by block purchase or in private transactions. In February 2006, our Board of Directors approved an 
increase to the share repurchase program in an amount equal to 5% of our outstanding common stock, thus increasing our repurchase authorization 
by 8.1 million shares. Under the share repurchase program, the Company purchased 4.6 million shares of the Company’s common stock during 2006, 
at an aggregate cost of $256.1 million, no shares were purchased in 2005 and 3.0 million shares during 2004, at an aggregate cost of $84.6 million. 
The total remaining common shares the Company is authorized to repurchase under this program is 6.2 million as of December 31, 2006. Excluded 
from these amounts are shares purchased in exchange for employee payroll taxes on vesting of restricted stock awards as these purchases are not 
part of the program.

O. Segment Information 

The Company has two reportable segments: Health Plans and First Health. Each of these segments is managed separately and separate operating 
results are available that are evaluated by the chief operating decision maker. The Health Plans segment provides commercial, Medicare and Medicaid 
products to a cross section of employer groups and individuals. Commercial products include HMO, PPO and POS products. HMO products provide 
comprehensive health care benefits to members primarily through a primary care physician. PPO and POS products permit members to participate in 
managed care but allow them the flexibility to utilize out-of-network providers in exchange for increased out-of-pocket costs. The Company provides 
comprehensive health benefits to members participating in Medicare and Medicaid programs and receives premium payments from federal and 
state governments. 
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The First Health segment provides services to the Group Health and Specialty sectors. The Group Health business offers its managed care and 
administrative products to commercial payors in three customer classifications:

• National Accounts—a variety of stand-alone managed care services and a portfolio of integrated health plan products to self-insured payors
•  Federal Employees Health Benefits Program—a variety of managed care and administrative services available to federal employees  

and annuitants
•  Network Rental—national PPO network and other managed care products to national, regional and local third party administrators and 

insurance carriers

The Specialty business offers network managed care and administrative services to two customer classifications: 

•  Medicaid/Public Sector—offers products and services more specialized to the needs of state governments as public sector health programs 
move toward more efficient utilization of health services. Product offerings include pharmacy benefit management, clinical management and 
fiscal intermediary services

•  Workers’ Compensation Services—managed care administrative services including access to our provider network, bill review and clini-
cal management

The table below summarizes the Company’s reportable segments (in thousands). “Other” represents the elimination of fees charged between 
segments. First Health only includes results since the date of acquisition. Disclosure of total assets by reportable segment has not been disclosed, 
as they are not reported on a segment basis internally by the Company and are not reviewed by the Company’s chief operating decision maker: 

Year Ended December 31, 2006

  Health Plans First Health Other  Total

Operating Revenues:
 Managed care premiums $ 6,776,277 $ 81,024 $ — $6,857,301
 Management services  124,576 758,439 (6,560)  876,455

Total operating revenues 6,900,853 839,463 (6,560) 7,733,756
Total operating expenses  6,211,728 687,585 (6,560)  6,892,753

Operating earnings  $ 689,125 $ 151,878 $ —  $ 841,003

Year Ended December 31, 2005

  Health Plans First Health(a) Other  Total

Operating Revenues:

 Managed care premiums $ 5,686,250 $ 41,912 $ — $ 5,728,162
 Management services  119,573 770,402 (6,891)  883,084

Total operating revenues 5,805,823 812,314 (6,891)  6,611,246
Total operating expenses  5,202,702 623,617 (6,891)  5,819,428

Operating earnings  $ 603,121 $ 188,697 $ —  $ 791,818

(a)Includes results since January 28, 2005, the date of acquisition.
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The Health Plan operations are aligned in several insured products. The Company believes identifying the gross margin and medical loss ratio 
(“MLR”) calculation from each of these products is useful in understanding the Company’s results of operations and is summarized in the table 
below (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

  Commercial 
Medicare 

Advantage Medicaid 
Medicare  

Part D(1) Total

2006
 Revenues $ 4,529,636 $ 814,624 $ 762,093 $ 669,924 $ 6,776,277
 Medical costs  3,519,641 647,178 652,198 565,856 5,384,873

 Gross margin  $ 1,009,995 $ 167,446 $ 109,895 $ 104,068 $ 1,391,404

 MLR 77.7% 79.4% 85.6% 84.5% 79.5%

2005
 Revenues $ 4,255,577 $ 676,349 $ 754,324 $ — $ 5,686,250
 Medical costs  3,338,944 542,928 638,415 — 4,520,287

 Gross margin  $ 916,633 $ 133,421 $ 115,909 $ — $ 1,165,963

 MLR 78.5% 80.3% 84.6% n/a 79.5%

2004
 Revenues $ 4,024,219 $ 564,779 $ 609,601 $ — $ 5,198,599
 Medical costs  3,182,732 470,611 532,552 — 4,185,895

 Gross margin  $ 841,487 $ 94,168 $ 77,049 $ — $ 1,012,704

 MLR 79.1% 83.3% 87.4% n/a 80.5%

(1)Represents the Medicare Part D Prescription Drug Plan and excludes the health plan Medicare Advantage business.

First Health operations are aligned into two sectors. The Company believes identifying the revenue from each of these sectors is useful in understanding 
the Company’s results of operations. Revenue from the Company’s First Health sectors since the date of acquisition is as follows (in thousands):

  
Year Ended 

December 31, 2006  
Period Ended 

December 31, 2005

(1) 

National Accounts $113,990 $141,283

Federal Employees Health Benefits Plan 208,177 204,678
Network Rental  126,573  89,442 

 Group Health Subtotal  448,740  435,403 

Medicaid/Public Sector 184,503 183,197 
Workers’ Compensation  206,220  193,714 

 Specialty Business Subtotal  390,723  376,911 

Total First Health Revenue  $839,463  $812,314 

(1)Includes results since January 28, 2005, the date of acquisition.
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P. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly results of operations (in thousands, except per share data) for the years ended December 31, 
2006 and 2005. Due to rounding of quarterly results, total amounts for each year may differ immaterially from the annual results.

Quarters Ended

  March 31, 2006 June 30, 2006 September 30, 2006 December 31, 2006

Operating revenues $ 1,938,717 $ 1,944,909 $ 1,909,136 $ 1,940,995
Operating earnings 182,719 206,588 224,281 227,414
Earnings before income taxes 192,798 217,422 238,701 247,428
Net earnings 120,981 135,454 147,517 156,094
Basic earnings per share 0.76 0.86 0.93 0.99
Diluted earnings per share 0.74 0.84 0.92 0.97

Quarters Ended

  March 31, 2005 June 30, 2005 September 30, 2005 December 31, 2005

Operating revenues $ 1,565,200 $ 1,652,957 $ 1,674,189 $ 1,718,900
Operating earnings 178,474 207,457 210,023 195,864
Earnings before income taxes 179,523 206,368 212,056 201,479
Net earnings 112,651 129,496 133,065 126,428
Basic earnings per share 0.75 0.81 0.83 0.79
Diluted earnings per share 0.73 0.79 0.81 0.77

Q. Subsequent Events 

On February 1, 2007, the Company purchased certain assets, including membership of approximately 31,000 members, from FirstGuard Health Plan 
Missouri, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Centene Corporation.

On February 8, 2007, the Company announced it has signed a definitive agreement to acquire Concentra, Inc.’s workers’ compensation managed care 
services businesses. The Company will acquire the Concentra businesses for $387.5 million in an all-cash transaction expected to close in 90 to 180 
days from that date, subject to closing conditions, regulatory and other customary approvals. 

On February 15, 2007, the Company redeemed all $170.5 million of its outstanding 8.125% senior notes. The Company redeemed the senior notes at 
a redemption price equal to 104.1% of the principal amount plus interest accrued on the redemption date. The funds for payment of the redemption 
price were provided by existing cash.
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Controls and Procedures  
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Coventry’s management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the U.S. Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934) is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that the 
Company’s receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and directors; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evalu-
ation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Coventry’s management has performed an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2006 based on criteria established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”), Internal Controls—
Integrated Framework, and believes that the COSO framework is a suitable framework for such an evaluation. Management has concluded that the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006. 

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2006, has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting 
which is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We have performed an evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this report of the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls and procedures” 
(as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ), under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief 
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer. Based upon our evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that 
our disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2006 that have materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Coventry Health Care, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting, that Coventry Health Care, Inc. (the “Company”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s 
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating manage-
ment’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A compa-
ny’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transac-
tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evalu-
ation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, 
is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the Company’s con-
solidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 of Coventry Health Care, Inc., and our report dated February 28, 2007 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, Maryland
February 28, 2007
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Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted  
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Dale B. Wolf, certify that: 

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Coventry Health Care, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures  
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 b.  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

 b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

By: /s/ Dale B. Wolf

Dale B. Wolf
Chief Executive Officer and Director  
Date: February 28, 2007
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Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted  
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Shawn M. Guertin, certify that:

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Coventry Health Care, Inc.; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report; 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures  
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

 a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our super-
vision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 b.  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

 d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, 
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

 a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

 b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

By: /s/ Shawn M. Guertin

Shawn M. Guertin
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer 
Date: February 28, 2007
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Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as Adopted  
Pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Coventry Health Care, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2006, as filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 
1350, as adopted pursuant to ss. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

 (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 

the Company. 

Date: February 28, 2007

By: /s/ Dale B. Wolf

Dale B. Wolf
Chief Executive Officer and Director

By: /s/ Shawn M. Guertin

Shawn M. Guertin
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

The Company has submitted an unqualified Section 12(a) CEO Certification to the NYSE in 2005 pursuant to Section 303A.12 of the NYSE Listed 
Company Manual.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on the Company’s common stock for the five years ending December 31, 2006 
with the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and a Custom Peer Group Index compiled by Zach’s Investment Research, Inc., 
assuming an investment of $100 on December 31, 2001. The following companies are included in the Custom Peer Group Index (and the returns of 
each company have been weighted according to its relative stock market capitalization at the beginning of each period for which a return is indi-
cated): Aetna Inc., CIGNA Corporation, Health Net, Inc., Humana Inc., Sierra Health Services, Inc., UnitedHealth Group Incorporated, and Wellpoint 
Health Networks, Inc. 

  Dec. 01 Dec. 02 Dec. 03 Dec. 04 Dec. 05 Dec. 06

Coventry Health Care $100.00 $145.50 $323.25 $399.03 $642.47 $564.50
S&P 500 Index $100.00 $ 77.89 $100.23 $111.13 $116.57 $134.98
Peer Group $100.00 $ 99.15 $140.66 $213.33 $309.09 $290.09
Peer Group & Coventry Health Care  $100.00 $100.32 $144.96 $217.74 $316.88 $296.51

Note: The Stock Price Performance Shown On The Graph Above Is Not Necessarily Indicative Of Future Price Performance.
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